ISSN 0376-7191

# The Economic and Social Research Institute

# QUARTERLY ECONOMIC COMMENTARY

by

T. J. BAKER, T. CALLAN, S. SCOTT, D. MADDEN

NOVEMBER 1983

# THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE COUNCIL, 1982 - 1983

- \*T. K. WHITAKER, M.Sc.(Econ.), D.Econ.Sc., LL.D., President of the Institute.
- \*J. F. MEENAN, M.A., B.L., Chairman of the Council.
- R. D. C. BLACK, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Economics, The Queen's University, Belfast.
- F. B. CHUBB, M.A., D.Phil., Professor, Department of Political Science, Trinity College, Dublin.
- \*SEAN CROMIEN, B.A., Second Secretary, Department of Finance.
- G. DEAN, M.D., F.R.C.P., Director, Medico-Social Research Board.
- N. J. GIBSON, B.Sc.(Econ.), Ph.D., Professor, Department of Economics, New University of Ulster, Coleraine.
- PATRICK A. HALL, B.E., M.S., Dip.Stat., Director of Research, Institute of Public Administration.
- \*W. A. HONOHAN, M.A., F.I.A.
- THE MOST REV. JAMES KAVANAGH, M.A., S.T.L., Bishop of Zerta.
- \*KIERAN A. KENNEDY, M.Econ.Sc., B.Phil., Ph.D., Director of the Institute. MICHAEL J. KILLEEN, B.A.(Mod.), B.Comm., D.P.A., Chairman, Industrial Development Authority.
- T. P. LINEHAN, B.E., B.Sc., Director, Central Statistics Office.
- \*P. LYNCH, M.A., M.R.I.A.
- CHARLES McCARTHY, Ph.D., B.L., Professor of Industrial Relations, Trinity College, Dublin.
- \*EUGENE McCARTHY, M.Sc.(Econ.), D.Econ.Sc., Director, Federated Union of Employers.
- JOHN J. McKAY, B.Sc., D.P.A., B.Comm., M.Econ.Sc., Chief Executive Officer, Co. Cavan Vocational Education Committee.
- \*D. NEVIN, General Secretary, Irish Congress of Trade Unions.
- THE MOST REV. J. NEWMAN, M.A., D.Ph., Bishop of Limerick.
- \*TOMAS F. O COFAIGH, Governor, Central Bank.
- I. Ó FIONNGHALAIGH, Secretary, Department of Labour.
- D. P. O'MAHONY, M.A., Ph.D., B.L., Professor, Department of Economics, University College, Cork.
- JAMES O'MAHONY, B.A., B.Comm., D.P.A., Secretary, Department of Agriculture.
- LABHRAS Ó NUALLAIN, D.Econ.Sc., Professor of Economics, University College, Galway.
- B. PATTERSON, Director General, Irish Management Institute.
- REV. L. RYAN, M.A., D.D., L.Ph., Professor, Department of Social Studies, St. Patrick's College, Maynooth.
- \*W. J. L. RYAN, M.A., Ph.D., Professor of Political Economy, Trinity College, Dublin.
  - T. C. TONER, B.Comm., M.B.A., Managing Director, BWG Ltd.
  - T. WALSH, M.Agr.Sc., Ph.D., D.Sc., M.R.I.A.
- \*REV. C. K. WARD, B.A., S.T.L., Ph.D., Professor, Department of Social Science, University College, Dublin.
  - P. A. WHITE, B.Comm., D.P.A., Managing Director, Industrial Development Authority, Dublin.

<sup>\*</sup>Members of Executive Committee.

# QUARTERLY ECONOMIC COMMENTARY

NOVEMBER, 1983

T. J. BAKER, T. CALLAN, S. SCOTT, D. MADDEN

Copies of this paper may be obtained from The Economic and Social Research Institute (Limited Company No. 18269), (Registered Office) 4 Burlington Road, Dublin 4.

Price IR£7.50 per copy or IR£25.00 per year (IR£27.00 abroad)

T. Baker is a Senior Research Officer, T. Callan and S. Scott are Assistant Research Officers and D. Madden is a Research Assistant of The Economic and Social Research Institute. The Commentary has been accepted for publication by the Institute, which is not responsible for either the content or the views expressed therein.

Printed by Mount Salus Press Ltd., Tritonville Road, Dublin 4,

# CONTENTS

	Page
SUMMARY	5
FORECAST NATIONAL ACCOUNTS	6
COMMENTARY:	8
Introduction	8
The External Environment	8
Implications for Ireland	10
The Domestic Economy – Exports	11
Investment	13
Stocks	14
Current Public Spending	15
Incomes	15
Government Finances	17
Personal Consumption	18
Final Demand	20
Imports of Goods and Services	20
Gross National Product	21
Balance of Payments	21
Employment and Unemployment	21
Prices	23
General Synthesis	23
Policy Implications	24
APPENDIX:	
The Oil Find — Some Implications	26
by 1. J. baker	
ARTICLES:	
Export Tourism Input-Output Multipliers in Ireland — A Reply by Noel T. Palmer	33
Export Tourism: Rejoinder to Palmer by Desmond A. G. Norton	38
Statistical Appendix	43

3

#### SUMMARY

At first sight, 1983 has been another year of stagnation. There has been no growth in real GNP, and unemployment has risen by 23 per cent. In several ways, however, it has been a year of considerable progress. Both the inflation rate and the Current Budget deficit have been reduced, albeit by less than was previously hoped. More significantly, the volume of imports has remained roughly constant while exports, especially of manufactured goods, have expanded very rapidly. Thus, the Balance of Payments constraint, which was one of the main factors inhibiting development in recent years, has been greatly weakened, and the preconditions have been established for a period of export-led recovery.

How far this recovery might progress in 1984 remains uncertain. The external environment should be somewhat more encouraging than in the past two years, but there is little sign of the upsurge in international investment which would offer Ireland's best hope of a rapid economic revival. Internally, the necessity to continue policies aimed at correcting the public finances will act as a brake on the rate of expansion, while most forms of capital investment are likely to remain very weak. On the other hand, there should be a powerful stimulus from the continued growth in industrial exports, and there are good reasons to expect some improvement in consumer confidence.

The forecast for 1984, inevitably tentative at this stage, is for an increase of almost 2 per cent in real GNP, the virtual elimination of the Balance of Payments deficit, a rise in the Consumer Price Index of 8 per cent and an increase of 9 per cent in unemployment. This outcome is based on the expectation of moderate pay increases in 1984, and on the assumption that the Current Budget deficit will be reduced to about £800 million.

It is difficult to see any practical alternative to a continuation of the present fiscal strategy, but the forecast does show the danger that to pursue too rapid a reduction in the deficit could jeopardise even the modest rate of economic growth projected for 1984. Unfortunately, as the Appendix to the *Commentary* makes clear, the prospect of possible oil revenues by the end of the decade in no way lessens the current necessity to follow policies which will sharply reduce the level of public foreign borrowing.

### FORECAST NATIONAL ACCOUNTS 1983 A: Expenditure on Gross National Product

				Change in 1983					
	1000		£	m	%				
	1982 £m		Total	Volume	Total	Price	Volume		
Private Consumer Expenditure	7490	7980	490	-255	61/2	101/2	- 81/2		
Public Net Current Expenditure	2682	2987	305	0	111/	111/2	0		
Gross Domestic Fixed Capital Formati	on 3177	3017	-160	- 395	5	81/2	-121/2		
Exports of Goods and Services (X)	6373	7510	1137	559	1734	81%	834		
Physical Changes in Stocks	-6	91	97	100	_		_		
Final Demand	19176	21585	1869	9	91⁄2	91⁄2	0		
Imports of Goods and Services (M)	7280	7784	454	0	6¼	6	0 `		
GDP at market prices	12436	13851	1415	9	111/2	111/4	0		
Net Factor Payments (F)	640	720	80	36	121⁄2	61⁄2	51/2		
GNP at market prices	11796	13131	1335	-27	111/4	111/2	-1/4		

## **B:** Gross National Product by Origin

					Change in 1983		
			1982 £m	1983 £m	£m	· %	
Agriculture, Forestry, Fisl	ning		1057	1152	95	9	
Non-Agricultural: Wages etc.			7270	7978	708	93/4	
Other			1417	1532	115	8	
less: Net Factor Payments			<del>64</del> 0	720	80	121/2	
National Income		•••	9104	9942	838	91/	
Depreciation	•••	•••	1140	1306	166	141/2	
GNP at factor cost			10244	11248	1004	93/	
Taxes less Subsidies	•••		1552	1883	331	21	
GNP at market prices			11796	13131	1335	111/4	

## C: Balance of Payments on Current Account

				1000	1098	Change in 1983
				1982 £m		£m
X-M.				-907		+ 683
F		•••		640	-720	80
Net Transfers		•••		506	600	+ 94
Balance on Current Account		1041		- 344	+ 697	

6

## FORECAST NATIONAL ACCOUNTS 1984 A: Expenditure on Gross National Product

				Ch	ange in 19	84	
	1009		£m		%		
	1985 £m		Total	Volume	Total	Price	Volume
Private Consumer Expenditure	7980	8790	810	149	101/4	8	13/4
Public Net Current Expenditure	2987	3228	241	-45	8	10	-116
Gross Domestic Fixed Capital Formation	3017	3085	68	-118	21/4	61/6	-4
Exports of Goods and Services (X)	7510	8692	1182	732	1534	51%	934
Physical Changes in Stocks	91	60	- 31	30		- 72	- /4
Final Demand	21585	23855	2270	689	101⁄2	71⁄4	31⁄4
Imports of Goods and Services (M)	7734	8584	850	402	11	51⁄2	51/4
GDP at market prices	13851	15271	1420	287	10¼	8	2
Net Factor Payments (F)	720	795	75	35	101⁄2	51⁄2	4 3⁄4
GNP at market prices	13131	14476	1345	252	10¼	8	2

# B: Gross National Product by Origin

		1009	1004	Change	e in 1984	
		£m	1984 £m	£m	%	
Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing		1152	1210	58	5	
Non-Agricultural: Wages etc.		7978	8713	735	91⁄4	
Other		1532	1674	142	91/4	
less:						
Net Factor Payments	•••	720	795	75	10¼	
National Income		9942	10802	860	81%	
Depreciation	•••	1306	1491	185	141/4	
GNP at factor cost		11248	12293	1045	91/4	
Taxes less subsidies		1833	2183	300	161⁄2	
GNP at market prices		13131	14476	1345	10¼	

## C: Balance of Payments on Current Account

			 1009	1004	Change in 1984
			1985 £m	1984 £m	£m
XM			 -224	108	+ 332
F			 720	-795	- 75
Net Transfers			 600	660	+ 60
Balance on Curr	ent Acco	ount	 - 344	-27	+ 317

#### COMMENTARY

#### Introduction

Both in the international environment and in the performance of the Irish economy 1983 appears to have been a period of considerable improvement. Abroad, economic growth in North America, Japan and Britain has been quite substantial by recent standards. In Ireland, although there has been no expansion in total national output, there has been a dramatic change in its composition. The rapid increase in exports, particularly of manufactured goods, has not only gone much of the way to rectifying the Balance of Payments problem, but has created the pre-conditions for a period of exportled growth.

However, both the international and the Irish recoveries are still fragile, and it is not yet possible to be confident that 1984 will see a sustained improvement in either. Indeed, given the lags in data availability and uncertainties about some current developments, the forecasts for 1983 as a whole cannot be taken as definitive.

The pattern of this *Commentary* will be to trace the major economic influences through both 1983 and 1984, projecting likely developments in the second half of 1983 and 1984 as a whole in the light of data available for the early part of 1983.

#### The External Environment

The immediate questions to be addressed are how strong and how sustainable is the current international recovery. To date, the recovery has been confined essentially to North America, Japan and the UK, and in each of these the upturn has been less pronounced than in the recovery from the deeper recession of 1974. However, contrary to some earlier fears, growth does not appear to have petered out in these countries, and there are some tentative signs that it may be starting to spread to continental Europe.

Both in North America and the UK the recovery has been based largely on increases in consumption, residential investment and stock-building. Particularly in the US the rise in consumption has been achieved mainly through a reduction in the savings ratio in response to falling inflation. As savings were estimated to be very low in the second quarter of 1983, further growth from this source is likely to have moderated in the third quarer and to remain modest into 1984. With housing investment and stock-building also likely to decelerate, an upturn in non-residential investment is necessary if the recovery is to persist. With capacity utilisation low, profitability moderate, and real interest rates high, the prospects for a major rise in capital formation cannot be regarded as favourable, although some selective increases in investment are probable. The main hope for the recovery to gather pace in 1984 lies in its spreading to continental Europe through higher exports, restocking and an improvement in consumer confidence. The pace of recovery will be influenced by the policy stance of the authorities, especially in the major trading nations. Fiscal policy is likely to remain contractionary in Europe and Japan. Most countries at present have fairly large budget deficits, and these are not expected to fall significantly in 1983 from their 1982 levels. An automatic rise in the deficits due to the low level of economic activity is being offset in nearly all OECD countries by attempts to reduce the discretionary portion of the deficit by restrictions on public spending and/or increases in tax-rates. An actual reduction in budget deficits in 1984 is expected in most major OECD countries.

The major exception to this tendency is the US where the 1983 deficit is expected to rise to between \$200 bn. and \$250 bn., although the high economic growth figures for the first half of the year have allayed earlier fears that the deficit was likely to exceed \$250 bn. The US budget is expected to remain heavily in deficit for a number of years, and official projections show deficits of over \$100 bn. at least until 1987.

Monetary policy has been fairly accommodating due to the fall in inflation, and growth of monetary aggregates in most countries has been at the upper end of the target range. Monetary growth has been particularly high in the US, partly due to the development of financial innovations and some changes in the definitions of monetary aggregates. Monetary policy in the US is not expected to be significantly tightened, with elections due in 1984 and with an apparent decline in the velocity of circulation offsetting the inflationary effects of monetary growth. Nevertheless, interest rates are expected to remain high in both nominal and real terms under the influence of the large budget deficits. Only a higher than expected rate of economic recovery would allow a substantial fall in nominal interest rates. In most other countries, interest rates are held higher than the authorities would wish because of exchange rate considerations, allied to the direct effects of high US interest rates.

Interacting with the structure of the recovery so far and the stance of official policies as influences on further growth are uncertainties concerning the evolution of exchange rates. The principal worry is the value of the dollar in relation to other currencies. While the importance of asset markets in determining short-term exchange rates under modern conditions suggests that the dollar might remain high throughout 1984 so long as US interest rates are maintained, there are at least two factors which could precipitate a substantial fall. The first is that in trading terms, the dollar appears grossly overvalued, as evidenced by the size of the current Balance of Payments deficit, even if this does give a slightly exaggerated picture due to a possible undervaluation of service exports. If purchasing power parity and resulting trade flows retain any validity as determinants of long-term exchange rate levels, then expectations of the future value of the dollar could be revised sharply downward at any time, with a consequent actual fall, unless interest rates were raised to extreme levels. The second possible factor relates to the instability inherent in the thirdworld international debt problem. Because so much of this debt is in dollar terms and is owed to American banks, any major sharpening of the crisis could have a substantial impact on the dollar exchange rate.

	GNP Cha	/GDP % ange	Cons Pri % Cl	umer ices hange	Mor Earr % Cl	nthly nings hange	Unemp R	oloyment ate	Budget as of C	Deficit % GNP	Curren Balance GDP/	t Trade as % of GNP
Country	1983	1984	1983	1984	1983	1984	1983	1984	1983	1984	1983	1984
United States	8	41/2	4	5	5	6	10	91/2	41⁄2	• 4	- 3/4	-1
Canada	2	41/2	6	51/2	61/4	53/4	121/2	12	61/2	51/2	3/4	1
Japan	- 3	· 4	2	21/2	4	4	23/4	3	31/2	21/2	1 3⁄4	1 3/4
West Germany	1/2	1 3/4	. 8	3	41/4	31/4	81/2	91/4	3.3/4	8	1/2	1/4
France	- 1/2	1/2	`  9	8	9	71/2	81/2	93/4	31/2	31/4	$-1\frac{1}{2}$	$-\frac{1}{2}$
UK	21/4	2	53/4	61/2	71/2	71/4	13	131/4	31/4	8	1/2	1/2
Italy	- 1/2	2	15	12	15	131/2	- 10	101/4	111/2	121/2	$-\frac{1}{4}$	1/2
Belgium	1/4	11/2	7	4	41/4	4	1434	, 15	111/4	111/4	-11/4	-1/4
Denmark	1	1/2	61/2	5	9	6	103/4	11 3/4	91/4	81/4	$-2\frac{3}{4}$	2
Netherlands	-14	1/4	21/2	21/2	334	21/2	151/2	1734	7	61/2	21/4	23/4
Sweden	11/3	21/2	101/2	5	10	6	31/2	31/2	· 8	8¼	-21/2	- 3/4
Total (OECD)	2	31/4	51/2	5 3/4	6	6	91⁄4	91⁄2	41⁄4	41⁄4	-1/4	- 1⁄4

#### **TABLE 1:** Short-term International Outlook

Source: OECD, and Individual Country Forecasts

There appear to be relatively minor tensions between other trading currencies particularly between those within the EMS. It is, thus, not unreasonable to project little change in their relative values during 1984. The assumption that the dollar will remain unchanged is an heroic one, but seems marginally preferable to any specific alternative.

To summarise the assumptions concerning international developments, GNP in OECD countries is projected to rise modestly in 1983 and a little more rapidly in 1984. The 1984 increase is expected to be more broadly based, with continental Europe following the lead of North America and Japan, but the recovery is unlikely to be sufficiently vigorous to induce much increase in investment or to reduce unemployment from its present high levels. World trade is projected to rise by about four per cent in 1984 compared with less than two per cent in 1983, while the general level of price inflation is expected to remain at between 5 and 6 per cent, with average earnings about one per cent higher. Despite uncertainties surrounding the dollar, it is assumed that there will be no major re-alignment of exchange rates. Projections for individual countries are shown in Table 1.

#### Implications for Ireland

Apart from any demonstration effects or impact on subjective moods, there are three major direct ways in which international developments affect the Irish economy. These are the effects on prices, exports and fixed investment.

On the assumptions made above concerning international prices and exchange rates the external pressure on Irish price levels will be marginally lower in 1984 than in 1983. This is due to the exchange rate assumptions, where the depreciation of the Irish pound between March and July 1983 is held to be followed by a period of approximate stability until the end of 1984. Although this would, in fact, leave the decline in the effective exchange rate index roughly equal at 3.3 per cent for each of the years as a whole, it is felt that this annualised approach is likely to be misleading. The 1983 average is influenced by the temporary appreciation in the first quarter, when sterling dipped sharply and before the EMS re-alignment. In practice, this appreciation was reversed before it had fully worked through into prices, and if this is allowed for, the effective price impact of exchange rate movement in 1983 has been greater, and in 1984 should be correspondingly less, than the crude annual average figures would indicate. Of course, if the dollar were to fall significantly in value during the period, that would reduce still further the external inflationary pressure on Irish prices.

With regard to exports, the projected upturn in world trade, and especially the improved growth rate in Europe, should enhance the prospects for a wide range of Irish exports. However, it must be borne in mind, that to a large extent the level of Irish exports, both agricultural and manufactured, are supply determined, reflecting the levels of agricultural output and of investment in new factories, respectively. Thus, the relationship of total exports with world trade levels, although positive, is by no means simple and direct.

Perhaps the most important linkage with overseas economic conditions lies through the effect on investment. This can act both on direct overseas investment in new factories or extensions, and indirectly on domestic investment via the level of interest rates. On neither count are the prospects for 1984 particularly encouraging. As already outlined the world economic recovery is unlikely to involve a major upsurge in investment, as capacity utilisation in most industries remains low, while competition for what investment is available is likely to be fierce as unemployment levels are high in most countries. Meanwhile, under the influence of US policies, world interest rates are likely to remain high in both nominal and real terms.

In all, the external environment has improved in 1983 compared with 1982 and is set to improve further in 1984. However, the considerable progress in Ireland's external performance in 1983 has owed more to internal developments than to the change in the international climate. Similarly, external conditions in 1984 cannot be expected in themselves to pull Ireland to a better economic position, but they should provide a context in which the appropriate domestic actions result in some degree of advancement.

#### The Domestic Economy – Exports

٠ć

The most striking feature of 1983 has been the rate of growth of exports. In the first nine months of the year, total merchandise exports have risen by 19 per cent in value and about 11 per cent in volume. Manufactured exports have increased by over 21 per cent in value, with the rate of growth increasing as the year has progressed.

By far the greatest influence on this rise in manufactured exports has been the coming into operation of new capacity in the fast growing electronics sector, but a major recovery in chemical exports, and smaller but useful improvements in a wide variety of other sectors have also contributed. It is impossible to distinguish between the effects of a more buoyant trading environment and the improvements in Irish competitiveness, especially vis-avis the US, resulting from currency movements more than offsetting differential cost increases.

For the remainder of 1983 it seems reasonable to forecast that the buoyancy in manufactured exports will continue, as no change in the factors underlying the mid-year growth is envisaged, but it would be imprudent to expect much further rise from the very high seasonally-corrected levels achieved during the summer.

In 1984, further growth is envisaged, both in respose to the favourable competitiveness assumptions and from the introduction of additional capacity. Allowing for the carryover from the growth in 1983, and a somewhat lower rate of increase in the course of 1984 itself, a further volume rise in manufactured exports of about  $10\frac{1}{2}$  per cent, and  $17\frac{1}{2}$  per cent in value, would appear feasible.

Other industrial exports have risen very sharply in the first nine months of 1983, largely because of the resumption of petroleum exports following the reopening of Whitegate. In 1984 a large rise in other industrial exports is expected, due to the opening of the Alcan plant which should generate well over £100 million of exports.

With a value increase of 9 per cent, agricultural exports have performed reasonably well in the period from January to September 1983, although less dramatically than industrial products. A major difficulty in forecasting agricultural exports, even in the short run, is the volatility of the balance between exports and placement into intervention stocks. Although output of beef and milk products might be predicted accurately, the level of exports might bear little relationship to output. At one extreme, a high proportion of current output might go straight into intervention, leaving exports very low, while, at the other, exports of all current production might be further boosted by sales from existing intervention stocks.

Intervention stocks grew from £178 million at the beginning of 1983 to just over £300 million at the end of August. It is assumed in this forecast that there will be a slight net outflow from stocks in the remainder of the year, leading to an annual increase of £116 million, the same as in 1982. On this assumption, agricultural exports would continue to be fairly buoyant until the end of 1983. Turning to 1984, it seems reasonable to suppose that on a Community basis fairly vigorous efforts will be made to prevent any further rise in intervention stock levels, through disposals as well as by attempting to reduce inflows. Thus, Irish agricultural exports could rise substantially faster than agricultural output, which itself seems likely to be restricted by EEC decisions. The actual assumption made, however, is that the net level of Irish intervention stock will remain unchanged in 1984, leaving export volumes to be determined basically by production levels.

Tourism exports in 1983 seem to have remained roughly constant in volume terms. Tourist numbers are estimated to have fallen by about 2 per cent, but this may have been offset by a rather higher volume of spending per head. For 1984 the World and European recovery could lead to a volume increase, especially if the assumptions of reduced inflation and roughly constant exchange rates hold good. Other possible favourable factors could be the lifting or easing of the French restrictions on travel expenditure, the lagged effect of good weather in 1983, and the generally lower level of violence in Northern Ireland, if that continues.

An improved international trading climate could lead to a small volume increase in exports of other services, again perhaps helped by a favourable pattern of exchange rates.

	1982	% Ch	ange	1983	% Ch	% Change		
	£m	Volume	Value	£m	Volume	Value	£m	
Agricultural	1327	4	9	1446	4	71/2	1555	
Manufactured	3485	111/2	221/4	4261	101/2	171/2	5005	
Other Industrial	810	14	21¾	986	201/2	241/2	1226	
Other	68	0	10	75	2	8	81	
Total	5690	93/4	19	6768	101/2	161/4	7867	
Adjustments	-99	0	19	-118	0	161/4		
Merchandise Exports	5591	91⁄2	19	6650	101/2	16	7730	
Tourism	470	0	101/4	517	3	111/2	578	
Other Current Receipts	312	0	101⁄4	343	3	111/2	384	
Exports of Goods and Services	6373	8¾	173/4	7510	93/4	153/4	8692	

#### **TABLE 2: Exports of Goods and Services**

Table 2 summarises the forecast of exports, showing that in 1983 total exports of goods and services are expected to rise by 8<sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> per cent in volume and 17<sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> per cent in value, while in 1984 the forecast increases are almost 10 per cent and 16 per cent respectively.

#### Investment

While exports have been the outstanding growth area in 1983, investment has been the opposite, showing a marked intensification of the decline begun in 1982. While severe reductions in the Public Capital Programme are obviously a prime factor in the fall, private capital formation has also been very weak in most sectors. All indicators point to a large decline in the value, as well as the volume, of capital expenditure, although some controversy exists concerning the extent of the fall in building and construction. A volume fall of about 12 to 13 per cent in both building and construction and machinery and equipment seems a likely outcome for the year.

Prospects for 1984 are highly dependent on the decisions taken in relation to the Public Capital Programme. At this stage the most plausible assumption is that this will show a small further decline in real terms. Because the fall during 1983 has been so sharp, a small improvement during 1984 from the end-1983 level would imply a decline in the annual average for 1984 compared with 1983.

Among the categories of private investment, no recovery seems likely in farm building or in the commercial sector which is still burdened with excess capacity in the face of weak demand. Little change is expected in the volume of industrial investment, where a weak domestic sector is likely to offset a small rise in overseas direct investment. In this regard, the concentration on hightechnology projects might enable direct investment in Ireland to perform rather better than general manufacturing investment on a World basis, where overcapacity in existing plants is likely to hold back the level of new capital formation.

With regard to housing, the assumption concerning the Public Capital Programme is consistent with no change in the volume of Local Authority house building. Private housebuilding fell sharply in the first half of 1983. There are signs of some recovery in the second half, with both the inflow of funds to building societies and their approvals of new house loans running at a high level. However, sustained recovery would appear to depend more on an improvement in consumer confidence than on an increase in the availability of finance, although both house prices and the level of interest rates will be important factors. Provided that there is no rise in interest rates, a gradual improvement in private housebuilding during 1984 would be consistent with forecast changes in the rest of the economy, and in the initial stages of a recovery a rapid increase in house prices seems unlikely. Even a reasonable recovery in private house building from its end-1983 levels could, however, leave the annual total for 1984 a little below that for 1983 in volume terms.

	1982	% Cl	% Change		- % Ch	1984	
	£m	Volume	Value	£m	Volume	Value	£m
Building and Construction	1724	-121/2	-4½	1647	-41/2	21/4	1684
Machinery and Equipment	1453	-12½	6	1370		21/4	1401
Total	3177		5	3017		21⁄4	3085

#### **TABLE 3: Gross Fixed Capital Formation**

Table 3 summarises the forecasts for fixed capital formation, showing overall a lower rate of decline in 1984 than in 1983, and implying a very slight upturn from end-1983 levels.

#### Stocks

Changes in stock levels are among the most difficult components of Final Demand to forecast. They are subject to large and volatile movements, with an absence of short-run current indicators with which to monitor movements. Even agricultural stock changes cannot be derived with confidence from enumerations, slaughterings and the recorded net movements of live animals, because unrecorded flows of smuggled animals can fluctuate significantly. Thus, for this important element of the National Accounts undue reliance must be placed on assumptions made with a lack of firm evidence.

With this proviso in mind, the forecasts for stock changes in 1983 and 1984 are set out in Table 4.

#### **TABLE 4:** Stock Changes

	τ.	1982 £m	Change in Rate £m	1983 £m	Change in Rate £m	1984 £m
Livestock on Farms		+13	+ 37	+ 50	- 30	+ 20
Irish Intervention Stock		+116	· 0	+116	-116	0
Other Non-ag. Stocks		— 135	+ 60	- 75	+115	+ 40
Total		6 ·	+ 97	+ 91		+ 60

The June 1983 Livestock Enumeration shows an increase of 1.2 per cent in cattle numbers, with a slightly higher rise in the breeding stock. This suggests a small rise in cattle stocks for 1983 as a whole. Sheep stocks appear to be rising more rapidly, with a 5 per cent increase in the June Enumeration. For 1984 it is assumed that a less favourable EEC package will restrict the growth in livestock numbers, although the stage of the cycle could ensure that there will still be a very small increase.

Intervention stocks of beef and milk products held in Ireland increased by £130 million between January and August 1983. Movements out of intervention tend to be unpredictable, and so it is assumed that for 1983 as a whole the increase in stocks will be the same as in 1982, implying a small net outflow in the last four months of the year. For 1984 the arbitrary assumption is made that the volume of intervention stocks will remain at its end-1983 level, which of course would represent a cessation of stock building.

The low volume of imports in relation to industrial output and retail sales, seems to indicate that non-agricultural stocks have continued to decline in 1983, although at a slower rate than in 1982. With a modest recovery in consumer expenditure forecast, together with a continuation of vigorous growth in manufactured exports, it is reasonable to assume that some restocking will take place in 1984. The continuation of high real interest rates, however, will provide an incentive to keep the growth in stocks at a fairly low level.

#### Current Public Spending

The out-turn of net public expenditure on current goods and services in 1983 seems likely to be fairly close to that assumed in previous *Commentaries* and to revised Budget forecasts. This means no change in the 1982 volume of spending, with a value increase of about  $11\frac{1}{2}$  per cent. Obviously, the level of public current spending in 1984 will depend largely on the government Estimates which are yet to be finalised. In view of the government's known policy stance, the most reasonable assumption to make is that there will be a significant reduction in real expenditure on goods and services in 1984, perhaps by about  $1\frac{1}{2}$  per cent. This would involve some fall in the number employed in the public service, as limits on replacement in the civil service are reinforced by a more restrictive approach to recruitment elsewhere in the wider public service. At the same time a strict approach to the non-pay element of public current spending could be expected.

Because of the timing of the phases of the current public sector pay agreement, the carryover into 1984 will be quite high. Allowing also for a small general pay increase in June 1984, some phases of special pay increases for particular groups, and the element of pay drift inherent in incremental scales, average public sector pay is likely to be around  $10\frac{1}{2}$  per cent higher in 1984 than in 1983. The price of other goods and services purchased is likely to rise by less than this, so the overall price deflator for current public spending could be almost 10 per cent. Thus, the value rise in current public expenditure in 1984 is assumed to be about 8 per cent.

#### Incomes

The items already discussed have been treated as if they were largely autonomous. Before the forecast of the expenditure side of the National Accounts can be completed by considering the largely endogenous items of consumer spending and imports, it is necessary to examine incomes and taxation.

With regard to 1983 it now seems probable that the average rise in private sector non-agricultural pay rates will be about 10 per cent, with the rise in public sector pay, because of the delay in the final phase of the previous agreement, being over 12 per cent compared with 1982. Average earnings figures seem likely to move in line with pay rates, but the rise in aggregate earned income will be lower because of a fall in total employment of about  $1\frac{1}{2}$  per cent.

The nature of the current pay round implies an inclusive carryover into 1984 of about 6½ per cent for the public service and perhaps 4 per cent for the private sector, although this average figure conceals fairly wide variations between different groups. The key assumption concerns the size and timing of agreements under the next pay round. With the labour market still very depressed and with price inflation likely to be well within single figures, settlements can be expected once more to be moderate. Assuming that phased increases predominate again, it seems reasonable to predict that in the private sector first phase increases will be of the order of 5 per cent, which would be significantly lower than the corresponding phase of the 1983 round. This could lead to an average increase of about 8½ per cent in basic pay rates, and perhaps 9½ per cent in earnings. In the public sector a lower rate of increase of 3 per cent from June is assumed. On its own this would take the annual average public sector pay increase to just over 8 per cent, and if allowances are made for some special payments and an element of salary scale drift, the actual increase in average public sector pay could well be in the region of 101/2 per cent.

With public sector employment assumed to fall by nearly 2 per cent but private sector employment to more or less hold on its 1983 level, total wages and salaries would be about 9 per cent higher in 1984 than in 1983.

It is assumed that in 1983 the earnings of the self-employed have just about matched inflation with a 10 per cent increase. With some degree of economic recovery forecast, a small real increase is expected in 1984, meaning a value rise of perhaps 11 per cent. Dividends, interest and rents are unlikely to show much growth in 1983 and only a modest improvement is assumed for 1984, although, because of its composition, this item is liable to show fairly volatile movements.

With a recovery of output prices during the summer, agricultural incomes have been revised to show an increase of 9 per cent in 1983. A considerable proportion of this is accounted for by a rise in the volume of milk produced, partly offset by rises in the volume and price of inputs. The course of agricultural incomes in 1984 depends to a large extent on the decisions taken concerning the Common Agricultural Policy of the EEC. At this stage, it is obviously impossible to make precise predictions of what these decisions will be. For the purpose of this *Commentary*, it is assumed that the proposed superlevy based on 1981 levels of output will not be applied in that form to Ireland, but that the mix of prices and other measures will be less favourable than in recent years. An increase of only 5 per cent in agricultural incomes is assumed, with very low increases in both the volume of output and prices being compensated by a reduced rate of growth in inputs.

Incomes in the form of transfer payments are likely to rise steeply in 1983. This is largely due to the continued rise in unemployment, reinforced by the secular increase in the number of pensioners and improvements in benefit rates. Transfers from abroad are assumed to rise by at least the rate of inflation, perhaps helped by the decline of the Irish pound in relation to the dollar. With unemployment likely to grow less rapidly in 1984, together with a possibly less generous increase in benefit and assistance rates and an assumption of no change in the value of the Irish pound, the rise in transfer income is likely to be lower than in 1983.

Table 5 sets out the forecast rise in personal gross incomes for 1983 and 1984. Although the nominal increase is smaller in 1984, the expected reduction in price inflation means that in real terms there should be a slight increase in 1984 compared with virtual stagnation in 1983.

	1982	Change		1983	Cha	Change	
	£m	%	£m	£m	% <b>£</b>	ິ£m	£m
Agriculture etc.	1,057	9	95	1,152	5	58	1,210
Non-Agricultural Wages							
and Salaries	7,270	93/4	708	7,978	91⁄4	735	8,713
Other Non-Agricultural Income	1,367	8	109	1,476	91⁄4	135	1,611
Total Income Received	9,694	91/2	912	10,606	8	928	11,534
Current Transfers	2,211	141/2	320	2,531	111/2	290	2,821
Gross Personal Income	11,905	103/4	1,232	13,137	91⁄4	1,218	14,355

#### **TABLE 5: Personal Income**

#### Government Finances

Before any estimate of consumption can be made from the personal incomes discussed above, it is necessary to calculate how much of that income will be removed by direct taxation, and thus, how much will remain as disposable income available for consumer spending. While considering the likely course of direct taxation, it is convenient to broaden the discussion to the government finances as a whole.

Revenue and expenditure figures for the first 9 months of 1983 suggest that, in total, state finances are running reasonably close to the revised official forecasts for the year. The composition of revenue receipts is rather puzzling, with income tax rather lower and VAT rather higher than would be expected from the underlying increases in incomes and the level of economic activity. It is possible that these differences reflect changes in the timing of receipts, and if so, the fourth quarter should show a return to more normal patterns. In the case of income tax, fourth quarter receipts should certainly improve due to the payment of the first phase of the Public Sector Pay Agreement, which was postponed in September because of the delay in ratifying the Agreement.

Taking this into account, it now seems likely that the current budget deficit will be close to  $\pounds 950$  million for the year. With public capital expenditure appearing to run rather below budget, the revised exchequer borrowing requirement for 1983 of  $\pounds 1,750$  million should be at least adequate. The total of debt outstanding will rise considerably more than this however, largely because the depreciation of the currency has had the effect of increasing the value in Irish pounds of existing debt denominated in foreign currency.

While many effects of the 1983 Budget will still be operating in 1984, it is decisions still to be taken concerning that year's expenditure and tax rates which will largely determine the performance of the public finances in 1984. At this stage, all the outside commentator can do is to make crude basic assumptions which are compatible with what is known of Government policy.

The assumptions made in this *Commentary* are that policy will aim to reduce the current budget deficit by about 15 per cent, to a level of about £800 million, and that the principal method adopted will be through cuts in real expenditure rather than increased tax rates. More specifically it is assumed that there will be a reduction of nearly 2 per cent in the numbers employed in the public service and that the general increase in public service pay will be 3 per cent from June 1984. Allowing for incremental drift and special pay awards, these assumptions would lead to an increase in pay expenditure of just over  $8\frac{1}{2}$  per cent in 1984. A mid-year adjustment of about  $7\frac{1}{2}$  per cent in Social Welfare Benefits, to keep pace with the Consumer Price Index at that date could lead to an increase of 14 per cent in state Social Welfare expenditure, after taking into account the increase in the number of recipients but also some shift from benefit to assistance rates. With a cut in even the nominal value of subsidies and a small rise in the value, but a fall in the volume, of other expenditure, total Supply Services are assumed to rise by nearly 8 per cent.

Economies are not practical in Central Fund Services, as these are concerned mainly with servicing the National Debt, which itself is increasing. An increase of almost 12 per cent is thus assumed for the value of Central Fund Services, leaving the increase in total Current Expenditure at 8<sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> per cent.

On the revenue side, it is assumed that there will be no increase in rates of indirect tax, apart from raising specific duties in line with inflation. For direct taxation, substantial, but not complete, indexation of income-tax thresholds and bands is assumed, with no change in direct tax rates, or in the rates of PRSI contributions. When the carryover from tax changes during 1983 is taken into account, together with this *Commentary's* forecasts of incomes and expenditure in 1984, these assumptions suggest a rise in tax revenue of over 13 per cent and in total revenue of 12<sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> per cent. The current budget deficit, as is the basic assumption, would be in the neighbourhood of £800 million. This would be a reduction of about £150 million or 15 per cent of the 1983 deficit in nominal terms, and a fall from 7 per cent to 5<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> per cent of Gross National Product.

With regard to capital expenditure, it is assumed that the Public Capital Programme will be reduced by about 3 per cent in real terms, but increased by 3 per cent in nominal terms. With provision made for a small increase in other public capital expenditure, and for increases of about 10 per cent in nonexchequer and internal sources of funds, the total borrowing requirement for capital purposes would be about £720 million. Added to the Current Deficit, this would give a total Borrowing Requirement of £1,520 million compared with the official estimate of £1,750 million for 1983.

With an anticipated fall in the personal savings ratio in 1984, it might prove difficult to increase on the 1983 target of £950 million for borrowing from domestic sources. If this is so, then overseas borrowing for 1984 would need to be about £570 million, compared with the revised official target of £800 million in 1983.

#### Personal Consumption

From the assumptions made concerning government revenue, it is possible to derive the levels of personal direct taxation likely in 1983 and consistent with the forecast for 1984. By subtracting this tax from the income figures shown in Table 5 a measure of personal disposable income for each year is obtained. This is shown in Table 6.

	1982	Cha	ange	1983	Cha	ange	1984
	£m	%	£m	£m	%	£m	£m
Gross Personal Income	11,905	101/4	1,232	13,137	91/4	1,218	14,355
Direct Personal Taxes	2,280	20	453	2,733	12	331	3,064
Personal Disposable Income	9,625	8	779	10,404	81/2	887	11,291
Consumption	7,490	61⁄2	490	7,980	101/4	810	8,790
Personal Savings	2,135	131⁄2	289	2,424	31/4	77	2,501
Savings Ratio	22.2%			23.3%			22.2%

#### **TABLE 6:** Consumption and Savings

It can be seen that in value terms the increase in disposable income forecast for 1984 is only marginally higher than that for 1983. When likely price changes are taken into account, however, the differences are more pronounced. For 1983 real disposable income seems set to fall by about  $2\frac{1}{2}$  per cent, while for 1984 an increase of  $\frac{1}{2}$  per cent is forecast.

If consumption were always a fixed proportion of disposable income, then one would expect a fall of  $2\frac{1}{2}$  per cent in the volume of consumption in 1983 and a  $\frac{1}{2}$  per cent rise in 1984. However, the proportions people spend and save out of their disposable incomes vary considerably from year to year, and the savings ratio grew steeply between 1981 and 1982. From the evidence of the first six months retail sales figures, when the volume was almost 5 per cent lower than in the first half of 1982, the savings ratio has been rising further during 1983. Even allowing for some upturn in spending in the second half of 1983, it seems probable that the volume of consumption will be down by about  $3\frac{1}{2}$  per cent for the year as a whole. Given the expectation that consumer prices will increase by about  $10\frac{1}{2}$  per cent, this would leave the value of consumption rising by about  $6\frac{1}{2}$  per cent. On these figures the savings ratio would rise from 22.2 per cent in 1982 to 23.3 per cent in 1983.

Although it is always difficult to predict turning points in such variables, there are several grounds for expecting some decline in 1984 from the very high savings ratio of 1983. Lower inflation is widely held to encourage lower savings; the demonstration effect of rising consumption in other countries should influence consumer confidence in Ireland; the replacement cycle for many consumer durables, including cars, has already been stretched longer than usual; and the expected composition of income in 1984, with farm incomes rising relatively slowly, is likely to be less conducive to savings. While none of these factors can guarantee that a higher proportion of disposable income will be spent, it does seem reasonable to predicate a reduction in the savings ratio at least to the historically high 1982 level of 22.2 per cent.

Provided this modest improvement in consumer confidence takes place, then the rise in the value of consumption in 1984 could be about 10 per cent, with a volume increase of  $1\frac{3}{4}$  per cent. Although seemingly modest in amount, this would represent the first annual rise in the volume of consumption since 1981.

#### Final Demand

Final Demand in 1983 is forecast to increase by  $9\frac{1}{2}$  per cent in value, but to show no change in volume. The only components to rise in volume are exports and stocks, while the very sharp fall in the volume of investment is principally responsible for the overall stagnation.

The projections for 1984 made so far suggest an increase in Final Demand of  $10\frac{1}{2}$  per cent in value and  $3\frac{1}{4}$  per cent in volume. The entire volume increase can be attributed to exports, with the smaller rise in consumption just failing to match the fall in the volume of other types of expenditure.

#### Imports of Goods and Services

Given both the level and composition of Final Demand in the two years, the volume of imports could be expected to remain roughly constant in 1983 and to grow modestly in 1984.

In fact, the volume of merchandise imports in the first half of 1983 fell by over 2½ per cent compared with the same period of 1982, although on a seasonally adjusted basis they were well above the very low level of the second half of 1982. As would be expected from the pattern of Final Demand, the principal falls were in capital goods and consumer goods, each of which was over two per cent down even in value terms. Imports of goods for further production increased in value, but would appear to have been roughly constant in volume compared with the first half of 1982; implying a continuation of industrial de-stocking.

With capital goods imports likely to remain very weak, but with some upturn in the annual rate of increase of both consumption goods and goods for further production, it seems reasonable to forecast that the volume of merchandise imports for 1983 as a whole will be just above the 1982 level. Monthly import price figures for the first half of the year show a rise of only 2 per cent. However, the monthly series is not always a good guide to annual rates of import price increases, and with the impact of the depreciation of the pound mainly being felt in the second half of the year, an average price increase for merchandise imports of about  $5\frac{1}{2}$  per cent seems a fair expectation for 1983. In line with depressed consumer spending, it is anticipated that the volume of tourism and of other imported services will decline in 1983. In total, no change is forecast in the volume of Imports of Goods and Services.

In keeping with the pattern of Final Demand in 1984, it is forecast that the volume of capital goods imports will continue to decline, but that there will be a substantial increase in the volume of imports for further industrial production. This includes an allowance for the raw materials needed for the Alcan factory. With a rise in the volume of consumer goods imports slightly above the expected increase in the volume of consumption, and broadly-similar rises in the volume of service imports, the total volume of Imports of Goods and Services in 1984 is projected to rise by over 5 per cent. On the assumption that price rises will be of the same order of magnitude as in 1983, this would give an increase in the value of Imports of Goods and Services of about 11 per cent, marginally above the projected increase in the value of Final Demand. Table 7 sets out the forecast imports for 1983 and 1984.

	1982	% Cl	nange	1983	% Ch	ange	1984
	£m	Volume	Value	£m	Volume	Value	£m
Capital Goods	943	-7½	-2	924	4	1	933
Consumer Goods	1,786	- 3	21/2	1,831	21/2	7 3/4	1,975
Intermediate Goods							
Agriculture	327	8	131/2	372	0	51/4	391
Other	3,742	4	93/4	4,108	91⁄2	151/4	4,736
Other	13	35	30	9	0	51⁄2	10
Total Goods	6,812	1/2	61/4	7,244	51/2	11	8,045
Adjustments	-126	51⁄2	11		5	10	- 154
Merchandise Imports	6,686	1/2	61/4	7,104	51/2	11	7,891
Tourism	380	-41/2	51/2	400	2	10	440
Other Services	214	-2½	71⁄2	230	2	10	253
Imports of Goods and Services	7,280	0	51/2	7,734	51/4	11	8,584

#### **TABLE 7: Imports of Goods and Services**

#### Gross National Product

The forecasts presented so far for the individual categories of expenditure indicate that the Gross Domestic Product in 1983 could grow by about 11½ per cent in value, with virtually no change in volume. However, the inexorable rise in Net Factor Flows, caused by the increase in interest payments due abroad, will result, if this forecast is correct, in Gross National Product falling by about 1/4 per cent in real terms. Sectorally, this would reflect a substantial rise in manufacturing production, aided by a small rise in the volume of agricultural output, being offset by a very large fall in the volume of building and construction and a small decline in the volume of the distribution services.

For 1984, an increase in the volume of Gross National Product of almost 2 per cent is projected. Again, this would represent considerable growth in manufacturing output but on this occasion accompanied by a small rise in the output of most private services, virtual stagnation in agricultural output, a much more modest fall in building and construction and a significant reduction in the volume of public services.

#### Balance of Payments

The forecasts for exports and imports in 1983 show a large improvement in the underlying balance. A trade deficit, including services, of £907 million in 1982, should be reduced to one of £224 million in 1983. Adverse factor payments, mostly interest on outstanding debt, partly offset by favourable transfers from the EEC and emigrants' remittances, are likely to raise the total deficit on current account to £344 million in 1983, compared with £1,041 in 1982.

While such a large improvement is not expected in 1984, it is nevertheless projected that the balance on goods and services will move into surplus, and that the total Balance of Payments on Current Account will show only a very small deficit of  $\pounds 27$  million.

#### Employment and Unemployment

Although much attention is always focussed on forecasts of Gross National Product, it really is little more than a useful abstraction, which imposes the necessary discipline of a coherent framework upon the forecaster. In many ways the most valuable part of a forecast is its prediction of more concrete entities such as employment, unemployment and prices.

Total employment fell very sharply in 1982 and has continued to decline, though at a slower rate, during 1983. By mid-April 1983 employment was 25 thousand, or more than 2 per cent, lower than a year previously. Apart from a continuation of the long-term decline in the agricultural labour force, the fall was concentrated in the industrial sectors and particularly in building and construction. Up-to-date figures on employment in most sectors of the economy are not available. Manufacturing employment fell sharply in the first quarter of 1983 and quite substantially in the second quarter. These figures are difficult to reconcile with the continuing rise in the volume of manufacturing production and with the industrial analysis of the Live Register, which shows unemployment in manufacturing ceasing to rise after April. Building employment is likely to have continued its decline, at least until the summer, while the previous growth in service employment has probably slowed down or stopped.

Looking to 1984, employment in building and construction could remain at near its end-1983 level, seasonally adjusted, while small increases could take place both in manufacturing industry and private services. On the other hand it has been assumed that there will be a fall of almost 2 per cent in public service employment. Table 8 summarises expectations regarding employment in April 1984, while on an annual average basis a decline in total employment of about 1½ per cent in 1983, and a marginal reduction in 1984 would be consistent with the forecasts.

	•		
	1982	1983	1984
Agriculture	196	191	186
Industry	352	325	319
Services	598	604	608
Total at Work	1,146	1,120	1,113
Unemployed	137	180	204
Labour Force	1,283	1,300	1,317
Unemployment Rate	10.7%	13.8%	15.4%
Live Register	148	188	210

Table 8: Employment and Unemployment ('000 mid-April)

Note:

It should be borne in mind that the unemployment totals given in the above Table do not include persons seeking work for the first time, as there is no reliable basis for compiling such estimates annually. The most recent such figures are those available from the 1981 Census which indicate that the number of persons seeking their first regular employment in April of that year was almost 20,000.

Another aspect of increasing importance in the context of the youth labour force is the number of persons on special employment and training schemes. Current estimates indicate that, at any one time, the number of young persons on such schemes is now in the region of 15,000. Such persons have not hitherto been separately identified in Censuses or Labour Force Surveys but it is understood that most of them have been classified as at work, except those in full-time training who have been classified as unemployed. The majority of persons involved in special schemes are school leavers, but they also cover some young unemployed persons who were previously in employment. It is likely, therefore, that the unemployment figures given in the above total may tend to understate the deterioration in the labour market in so far as they do not reflect the increasing numbers engaged on these schemes.

As Table 8 illustrates, the size of the labour force is constantly increasing, so that unemployment rises much faster than employment declines. Although the definition of unemployment used in the Table is that used in the Labour Force

22

Survey and is not co-terminous with the Live Register, movements in the Live Register do tend to reflect changes in Labour Force unemployment fairly accurately. Live Register figures for the first 9 months of 1983 confirm the picture of unemployment shown in Table 8. Seasonally corrected, the Live Register has risen by 22,000 or 12½ per cent between the end of December 1982 and the end of September 1983. However, the rate of increase has been moderating, with a rise of nearly 11,000 in the first quarter being followed by increases of between 5,000 and 6,000 in each of the second and third quarters. This implies that the rate of increase in unemployment since the end of March has mainly reflected the increase in the size of the labour force, and that the fall in actual employment has been reduced to a rate of about 5,000 per year.

The improvement in the economy necessary to stabilise the employment level is thus quite minor, and the upturn predicted for 1984 should achieve this. However, unchanged employment would still leave unemployment rising by the rate of increase of the labour force, namely some 17,000 per year. Allowing for the carryover from 1983, this could leave the average level of the Live Register in 1984 at over 210,000, or 9 per cent higher than the 1983 average.

#### Prices

Both the General Wholesale Price Index and the Output Price Index of Manufacturing Industry show the underlying rate of inflation declining quite sharply in the first half of 1983, to an annual increase of around 6 per cent in mid-year. However, both these indices exclude VAT and other indirect taxes, which have a marked effect on consumer prices. The Consumer Price Index for mid-August 1983 was 10 per cent higher than a year earlier, after showing the highest quarterly rise since the second quarter of 1982. Because of special factors affecting the August figure, and the relatively low growth in wholesale prices, it seems reasonable to expect a much lower rise between August and November, leaving the November index just over 10 per cent higher than in the previous year. If this is confirmed, it would produce an average level of the Consumer Price Index in 1983 10½ per cent above that of 1982.

Given the assumptions of no significant increases in indirect tax rates, increases in average earnings of about  $9\frac{1}{2}$  per cent, and no major changes in exchange rates, it could be expected that the average Consumer Price Index in 1984 would be about 8 per cent higher than in 1983, with the level in November 1984 about  $7\frac{1}{2}$  per cent higher than in November 1983.

#### General Synthesis

Entering 1983, the Irish economy was faced with four major problems. These were an unsustainable level of public foreign borrowing, largely because of an excessively high Current Budget deficit, high and rising unemployment, a large Balance of Payments deficit, and a rate of consumer price inflation still in double figures. In the course of the year, it appears that very considerable progress has been made towards eliminating the Balance of Payments deficit, and that some, but rather disappointing, advances have been made in reducing the Current Budget deficit and the rate of consumer price inflation. Unemployment, however, has continued to increase although at a somewhat slower rate. The projections for 1984 suggest the virtual disappearnce of the Balance of Payments deficit, a significant reduction in the Current Budget deficit, a single figure rise in the Consumer Price Index and a further slowdown in the growth of unemployment. Even with an increase in real Gross National Product forecast after two years of decline, there seems no prospect of an actual reduction in the number out of work.

This prospect of a rather mixed and modest improvement in the economy is based on foundations that are far from sturdy. Fiscal policy and weak investment will continue to exert a downward influence on economic activity. This should be offset by strong export growth, but for expansion to take place there also needs to be a greater willingness by consumers to spend their incomes and some rebuilding of industrial and commercial stocks. While both these seem likely, neither is certain, and both are related to the intangible issue of economic confidence. Equally, if confidence were to improve more rapidly than expected, and especially if it extended to encouraging new capital investment, the recovery could become substantially more rapid than has been projected in this *Commentary*.

#### Policy Implications

So far as fiscal policy is concerned, the forecast for 1984 has been based on the explicit assumption that the aim will be for a Current Budget deficit of about £800 million, and that this will be achieved largely through cuts in the volume of public expenditure. In working through the projections it has become clear how delicate the balance is between the fiscal and the economic aims of official policy. The need to reduce the level of public overseas borrowing remains imperative, as the drain on national resources of servicing the foreign debt will continue to get worse so long as that borrowing persists. Thus, any attempt to stimulate the economy by increasing, or even tolerating the present size of, the budget deficit would simply intensify the problems to be faced in 1985 and 1986. Conversely, to try to reduce the deficit by much more than has been assumed here would run the risk of choking off the not very robust recovery forecast.

With regard to other policy instruments, it has been assumed that monetary policy will be fairly neutral, permitting such increase in credit as would be compatible with preventing a widening of the interest differential between Ireland and the rest of the world. Again, if policy takes a direction significantly different from that assumed it could affect the pace of recovery. Within the general assumption, it would seem reasonable that credit guidelines might be made rather more accommodating to the personal borrower. Since the easing of the Balance of Payments constraint there is no immediate cause to restrain consumption, and indeed a reasonable growth in consumer spending appears a necessary component in a broader economic upturn.

The projections made concerning incomes reflect a view of the likely response to labour market conditions, and do not embody the assumption of an active official incomes policy. It can be argued convincingly that neither the major improvement in Ireland's trade balance in 1983 nor the significant slowing down of the rise in unemployment could have been achieved without the moderation of pay increases in the exposed sector of the economy achieved in 1982 and 1983. Given the exchange rate assumptions, together with likely pay increases overseas, Ireland's short-term competitiveness should not be significantly eroded in 1984 if pay increases are in line with the projection of a 5 per cent first phase in the coming pay round. Of course, even lower increases would tend to improve competitiveness and reduce the inflation rate.

On public sector pay on the other hand, it is certainly arguable that the 3 per cent first phase assumed in the forecast is excessive. In spite of the pay pause in the current round, public sector wages and salaries rose by more than private sector in 1983. Even for 1984, the projected annual rise in public sector average earnings is higher than that in the private sector. Given the imperative need to reduce the Current Budget deficit, and the high proportion of pay costs in public spending, the case for public sector pay to rise by less than the private sector is very strong, as this would be the most desirable way of reducing the deficit. If it proved possible, either within the context of a general incomes policy, or by bargaining within the general economic prospects would be improved significantly. Either the deficit could be reduced rather more rapidly than projected, the cutbacks in real spending on useful services could be slightly less severe, or some tax rates could be reduced.

#### APPENDIX

#### THE OIL FIND – SOME IMPLICATIONS

#### by T. J. Baker

#### Introduction

Although the excitement of high summer has largely abated, it is still worthwhile to examine the implications of a commercial oil discovery in Irish waters. Until further tests are concluded in 1984, it will remain unclear whether this season's encouraging drilling results off the Waterford coast really signify a breakthrough in the search for Irish oil reserves. At present, there is still the possibility that this will prove to be yet another sub-commercial find. More probably, a single oilfield of moderate size has been discovered which can and will be developed over the next few years, with oil flowing in full commercial quantities by perhaps 1988. The remote but exciting possibility raised by the results is that major reserves will now be discovered in deeper strata than have been explored in previous drilling programmes.

Obviously, the impact on the economy and the policy issues which will need to be faced, will be very different for each of these possible cases. However, given the time scale of development, it should be known with some certainty which set of conditions apply before any major effects become reality. At this stage all that can usefully be done is to point out the approximate orders of magnitude in each of the cases for such key economic variables as employment, the Balance of Payments and the public finances, and to examine in a general way some of the more important choices that might confront the public authorities.

#### Early Effects

Regardless of the eventual outcome of further tests on the Gulf find, the initial results have been sufficiently encouraging to stimulate additional exploration in the Celtic Sea. While it is too late for significant changes in 1983 drilling plans, 1984 should see a substantial expansion in activity. This could bring modest benefits in the form of exploration licence fees to the state and payment for services in some south coast locations.

Effects from 1985 onwards would depend to a considerable extent on results in 1984. If the present find were to prove non-commercial, exploration would, nevertheless, continue in future years, although without new discovery it would gradually taper off. If the find is confirmed as commercial, then continuing exploration would be accompanied by the further expenditure required to place the existing field into production. Although most of this development spending would inevitably be on imported goods and services it would include a certain domestic element for such services as accommodation and transport. Between exploration and development, a few thousand jobs might be provided in the years from 1985 to 1988. The number would be heavily influenced by decisions on how and where to transport and process the oil. Presumably the main long-term options, in ascending order of domestic employment content, would be:

- (a) To load oil into ships direct from the production rig, for transport to existing refineries in the UK or the Continent.
- (b) To build a pipeline across the Celtic Sea to existing UK refineries.
- (c) To pipe or ship the oil to existing storage facitilies at Whitegate, for transhipment to overseas refineries. If this choice involved closing Whitegate as a refinery, it could reduce long-term employment.
- (d) To pipe or ship the oil to a new terminal in Ireland for transhipment to refineries abroad.
- (e) To pipe or ship the oil to Whitegate for refining in its present plant.
- (f) To pipe or ship the oil to Whitegate for refining in an extended and modernised plant.
- (g) To pipe or ship the oil to a new refinery somewhere on the south coast.

Far more information is needed before any decisions could be taken, even in principle, on which of these options to adopt, although it seems rather unlikely that a single field would justify (f) or (g) at a time of world over-capacity in refining.

If the re-vitalised exploration programme were to result in the discovery of further commercial fields, then the economic effects, even before production, could be very considerable. Not only would the direct employment effects tend to be multiplied by the number of fields, but there could well be a threshold effect whereby it would become worthwhile to establish various oil services in Ireland.

Even more important, the magnitude of potential revenue flows could make it possible to modify macro-economic policy in anticipation, thus leading to increases in non-oil employment. As will be seen, such anticipation of revenue would be extremely reckless in the case of a single field.

One effect which should be noted, whether a single field or multiple fields are in question, is that the Balance of Payments deficit will tend to rise during the period of development. As the inevitable increase in imports will tend to be automatically matched by a private capital inflow, this temporary deterioration in the external current balance can safely be ignored. Indeed, it might be wise to isolate the oil development imports in the Balance of Payments Statement so that the underlying Balance can more easily be monitored.

#### Potential Benefits from a Single Field

If the present discovery is proved commercial, yet remains an isolated occurrence, then the flow of benefits to be derived from it will depend largely on the size of recoverable reserves in the field, on the rate of exploitation and on the tax and other financial arrangements between the state and the operating company. By their nature, none of these is yet established and they are unlikely to be decided next year.

Thus, any estimates made now must rest on assumptions which may eventually prove quite mistaken, but treated with due care they can provide some guidance on the possible orders of magnitude which might be involved. Although caution might suggest basing calculations on the smallest size of commercially viable oil-field, it is in fact, more illuminating to make the assumption that the field will turn out to be of medium size compared with those in the North Sea.

Accordingly, a field of 300 million barrels of recoverable oil is assumed, with the further simplistic assumption that it would be exploited at an even rate of 15 million barrels per year for twenty years commencing in 1988. Any early sales of oil, while the well is being established are assumed to be used by the operator to defray part of the development costs. No state revenue is assumed from this pre-production output, so that its principal macro-economic effect would be to lessen the temporary adverse impact on the Balance of Payments during the period of development.

With regard to the tax-take, some commentators have assumed that the total take will comprise the already agreed scale of royalties, ranging from 8 per cent to 16 per cent according to the scale of production, plus the standard 45 per cent corporation tax on the operating surplus of the enterprise. According to the size of the field and the level of prices and costs, this could give a total tax-take of between 40 per cent and 50 per cent of the sales income. Even allowing for the alleged need to encourage the initial producer and to stimulate further exploration, such a rate of tax on a non-renewable national asset seems unrealistically low. Norway, UK and USA obtain much higher government returns, amounting to over 70 per cent of sales income on a typical oil-field and to over 80 per cent on some established low-cost fields. For a new, but conveniently situated, field a mix of taxes which resulted in a total tax-take of 65 per cent of sales income would not seem unduly onerous. The agreed royalties, plus a total tax of 80 per cent on the operating surplus, after allowing for normal capital costs, could give such a result, which at least for illustrative purposes appears a reasonable assumption.

Finally, assumptions need to be made concerning the price at which the oil would be sold, and the operating and capital costs involved in its production. The simplest solution is to base calculations on present day values, with the implied assumption that oil prices, costs, and the general price index will move roughly in line between 1983 and 1989. On this basis, a price of \$30 per barrel, which is the approximate market value of North Sea oil, and total costs of \$6 per barrel, which is an arbitrary figure but in line with some North Sea costs, have been selected. It is further assumed that one-fifth of total costs will be domestic and four-fifths foreign, with all of the operator's profit going abroad.

If these assumptions are put together, the breakdown of revenue would be as follows

		Per Barrel	F	Per 15m Barrels
· ·	\$	%	\$m	£m
			· · · ·	$(at \ \pounds 1 = \$1.20)$
Value of output	. 30	100	450	375
Operating and capital costs	6	20	90	75
Total tax take	19.5	- 65	293	244
Profit to operator	4.5	15	67	56
Contribution to Balance				
of Payments	20.7	69	311;	259

Possible Annual Returns from Single Oilfield

28

It must be stressed that these figures are purely illustrative, being based on assumptions for which as yet there can be no justifying evidence. However, they do provide an idea of the approximate orders of magnitude which could be involved if the present find proves commercial but no further discoveries are made.

It is apparent from the table that from somewhere around 1990 there could be a very useful tax flow of almost £250 million per year (at 1983 values). To put this in perspective, it is little more than the expected 1983 yield from all Corporation Tax, or from Income Tax on the Self-Employed. As such, it would be equivalent to a little under 5 per cent of total tax revenue in 1983, or about one-quarter of the expected current budget deficit.

It was assumed in the table that the state would not avail of its right to purchase a share of up to 50 per cent in the operation. If the option were to be exercised, its principal effect would be to slow the rate of tax receipts, as part of the revenue would be devoted to acquiring the state share. Thereafter, state income would be boosted each year by up to half of the operator's surplus. Whether it is worth taking a major share depends to a large extent on how much of the economic rent generated by the oil-field can be captured directly through taxation, as well as on the purchase price. For any given price, the lower the tax rate the greater the incentive to purchase a share of the operation.

In the illustration used, the contribution to the Balance of Payments would be quite substantial at over £250 million, which compares with an expected current deficit of about £350 million in 1983, but with a peak deficit in 1981 of nearly £1,400 million.

Not even a rough estimate can be made of direct employment generated by oil production as it could range from almost zero if the oil were to be piped directly abroad, to perhaps 4,000 if domestic refining were allied to continuing exploration and a high Irish participation rate on the production rig and in ancillary services. What is clear is that the direct employment effect is likely to be a relatively minor benefit compared with the revenue and balance of payments effects.

#### Policy Implications of a Single Field

The modest dimensions of the potential benefits of a single oil-field in relation to underlying economic problems have two main policy corollaries. The first is that even when they become available they will not call for any radical rethinking of economic management. The Balance of Payments effect should not be strong enough to have any significant impact on the Irish exchange rate within the EMS, while the revenue flows can take their place among the mix of taxes enabling little more than a marginal relaxation of some other tax rates. Questions of how the money ought to be spent would hardly arise.

The second and more urgent corollary is that the scale of future revenue flows is far too small to justify any modification of economic policy in anticipation of their arrival. The current rate of official external borrowing is about £800 million per annum. It can easily be seen that to allow this scale of borrowing to continue unabated for three years would, at current interest rates, absorb the entire anticipated revenue in servicing the new debt incurred during that period. Thus, for the short and medium term the oil find does nothing to alleviate the necessity to reduce external borrowing.

#### Economic Effects of Multiple Oil Discoveries

Were further exploration to result in a series of major oil finds in Irish waters, the economic effects could be very far-reaching. Whereas it has been seen that a single field would do little more than to make the implementation of existing economic policies rather easier, multiple oil discoveries would demand a complete re-appraisal of policies.

Potential revenue and Balance of Payments effects running into billions of pounds would, indeed, provide great opportunities by relieving some of the existing economic constraints, but at the same time they would create new problems. While it would be pointless to examine these problems in great detail now, when there may still be no commercial oil at all, a brief look at their general nature might be of interest.

The long-term problem most often discussed in relation to major natural resource exploitation is the requirement for a structural shift in the economy. It is argued that to accommodate the new development, production of tradeable goods will fall and output of non-tradeables will tend to increase. As the bulk of tradeable goods are manufactures, a decline in existing manufacturing industry is postulated — the so-called "Dutch Disease".

This structural shift occurs thorugh a combination of a rising exchange rate and changes in factor prices. Both the direct Balance of Payments effect of the new resource, in this case, oil, and the improvement in the relative attraction of the country as a repository for financial investment will tend to force up the exchange rate against non-oil currencies. This would obviously reduce the competitiveness of existing industry. At the same time, the needs of the oil industry itself, and of those domestic services whose demand has been stimulated by the oil income, to acquire additional resources will tend to bid up the price of the factors of production, especially labour, thus further weaking the competitive position in manufacturing.

While there is fairly widespread agreement among economists on this theoretical analysis, there is much less accord concerning the empirical evidence on the strength of the tendency. Particularly, in the case of the UK in the past five years, there is no concensus on the extent to which North Sea oil has been responsible for either the rise in the value of sterling or the decline in manufacturing industry. What is clear is that the oil effect has been reinforced by broader economic policy decisions which on their own would also have tended to raise the exchange rate and squeeze industry. How far each of these factors can be held responsible for the outcome seems to be as much a field for political interpretation as for disinterested analysis. What certainly has not been tested in UK practice is whether countervailing policies could have either limited the decline in manufacturing or eased the transition to a more servicebased economy. Norway, on the other hand, offers some evidence that appropriate policies can limit the disruption caused by large-scale oil production.

Even on the theoretical level there is some doubt as to the relevance of the analysis to Irish conditions. The finding that there is a need for structural shifts, as distinct from a mere likelihood that they will come about, rests on the assumption that the starting equilibrium is one of full employment, so that resources have to be shifted from one use to another. If the new oil sector and an expanded domestic service sector can simply absorb previously unused resources then the *requirement* for any existing sector to decline would be avoided. The problem then would become one of so managing the exchange rate and factor price problems that an *unnecessary* reduction in the traded goods sector is prevented.

The broad outlines of a policy mix to achieve this result are fairly easy to state, although, of course, they might prove difficult to implement in practice.

A considerable part of the revenue would be used domestically to upgrade the infrastructure, industry and the social services. In a country like Ireland with a high propensity to import, the resulting expansion of incomes in the domestic service sector would lead to a rise in imports sufficient to offset a substantial proportion of the oil exports. The use of part of the oil revenue to establish a reverse capital flow, counterbalancing rather than reinforcing the improved current balance, would also help to keep the exchange rate from rising. The obvious first step in this direction would be the retirement over a relatively short period of the existing public external debt. When this process was completed it would be desirable to maintain the outward capital flow either through direct public investment overseas, or by actively encouraging private investment abroad. Apart from mitigating the short term exchange rate problems, such a policy would possess the advantage of ensuring a continuing income flow from abroad after the oil was exhausted. The fact that the Irish pound is not a major trading currency and that Ireland lacks a full range of international financial institutions should be of assistance in discouraging an unwanted capital inflow in the wake of major oil developments. However, it might also prove necessary to adopt a relatively low interest rate policy to further deter inward short-term capital movements.

While such a mix of policies might well suffice to hold the nominal exchange rate, there would remain the danger that the real exchange rate would nevertheless rise as a result of rapid inflation. Especially if monetary policy had to be fairly liberal in order to keep interest rates low for exchange rate purposes, then both fiscal and income policies would have to be strong if inflation were to be avoided. Here, too, the "export" of capital would be helpful, but in addition caution would be needed with regard to both the type and the speed of internal public investment. The criterion for such investment should be that it would yield a sound social or economic return, although not necessarily a direct financial return to the state.

Projects should not be assessed in terms of their immediate job-creating potential. Indeed, any attempt to eliminate unemployment as quickly as possible would almost certainly cause overheating of the economy, with rapid price and cost rises and an adverse long-term effect on industrial employment. A more gradual approach, in which manufacturing itself was planned to contribute to increased employment would be much more effective. Ironically, in the Irish situation the initial stages of major oil development could be made to enhance rather than damage industrial competitiveness if part of the public revenue were devoted to reducing those taxes which raise production costs, and if higher turnover lowered unit costs in the major public utilities. At a later

31

stage, money invested in improved infrastructure and industrial marketing or research facilities could also tend to improve competitiveness.

Although such cost reducing measures could offset probable pay increases in manufacturing industry while unemployment remained high, pressures for increased money wages would be likely to intensify as unemployment fell. An incomes policy strong enough to contain such pressures would seem to be beyond the power of unilateral government action. The best hope would be to establish in advance a consensus among the social partners for medium term income moderation together with a planned rise in employment and improvements in social services. The great advantage of large oil revenues would be that the employment side of such an accord would carry credibility, unlike the situation in recent recessionary years. However, the achievement of the necessary agreement on priorities and the pace of development would not be easy, and would depend on all parties retaining both a sense of realism and a long-term perspective. The justification for speculating about the problems of plenty before the presence of any commercial oil at all has been confirmed lies in this need to inculcate responsible attitudes, just in case major reserves are discovered.

# EXPORT TOURISM INPUT-OUTPUT MULTIPLIERS FOR IRELAND – A REPLY

#### Noel T. Palmer\*

In the course of an article on "Export Tourism Input-Output Multipliers for Ireland" in the ESRI *Quarterly Economic Commentary* of May 1982 Desmond A. G. Norton derived some estimates in respect of tourism activity and drew comparisions between his estimates and those of others including Byrne and Palmer. The following comments are set out in order to indicate sources of these differences.

There is little point in referring to "the" multiplier in empirical studies of the tourism sector because of the need to incorporate many assumptions in such a study, with each of these assumptions having a bearing on the magnitude of the multiplier. It is the effects of different assumptions which have given rise to the major difference which Norton perceives between his work and that of others. In a study which I undertook with John Byrne we distinguished a range of multipliers based on assumptions, *inter alia*, as to (a) government expenditure on goods and services being exogenous or endogenous and (b) the effects of marginal changes in tourist numbers. We also distinguished differences in multipliers pertaining to tourism spending by out-of-state and within-the-state tourists. We were particularly interested in the economic effects of tourism spending by both out-of-state and within the state tourists.

The major difference between Norton's estimate of the multiplier and that of others arises due to differences in the treatment of tax revenues. If tax revenue is treated as being recycled Norton's calculations would provide a multiplier of 2.0 in respect of tourism expenditure within the state. Such a procedure, of course, poses the question of the legitimacy of treating tax revenue in this manner. In the derivation of theoretical multipliers tax revenue is treated as a leakage. However, in conducting studies in applied economics it is necessary to set economic analysis in the context of the prevailing economic circumstances. During the past decade the government has consistently run current budget deficits and government borrowing has constituted an increasing percentage of GNP. There has been an increasing (and unsustainable) level of exchequer borrowing which is externally financed and outstanding foreign debt constituted an increasing proportion of our reserves. In the year in which Norton has chosen to set his work, i.e., 1976, the current budget deficit was 4.4 per cent of GNP, exchequer borrowing was 11.1 per cent of GNP and 64.0 per cent of exchequer borrowing was externally financed. If one perceives the government, when imposing taxation in order to finance its expenditure, as seeing beyond the impact effect of its action then the point is further emphasised. Norton apparently considers that studies in applied economics should ignore the prevailing economic climate and consequently treats tax

\*The author is Lecturer in Economics at University College, Dublin.

revenue as being withheld and not influencing decisions of government expenditure. In pursuing this approach he ignores the essence of the Fiscal Drag concept. In a footnote Norton states:

This (the non-recycling of tax revenue) is the standard kind of assumption made in macro-economic analysis. We admit that in a longer-term context the assumption may be invalid — to the extent that government expenditure is determined by the revenue available.

However, he does not attempt to render his comment operational by commenting on the calendar period which the long-run entails and thus he sets the fiscal year in question in a timeless zone unaffected by past or present tax revenues.

As an alternative approach a cost/benefit analysis might be undertaken in respect of government's *net* allocation of funds to the sector. In such an approach the tax revenues accruing from the government action could be set against the initiating government injection of funds. The *net* cost of the government's financial intervention could then be compared with any increase in economic activity (multiplier effect) with tax revenue not being recycled. Also this method distinguishes between tax payments and other forms of leakage, e.g., imports.

The question of the recycling of tax revenue is not the only point of issue. Norton's use of average rather than marginal factors distorts his multiplier analysis because of the heavy weighting attributed to electricity and transport in the input/output analysis of tourism. It is particularly important to distinguish between marginal and average factors in the electricity and transport sectors because of the large fixed cost elements in these sectors. These points which are of relevance in the calculation in multipliers and on which Henry (1980) urged caution, are discussed below in the context of capital/labour ratios.

#### Capital/Labour Ratios

Norton asserts that the tourism sector is more capital intensive than is the economy as a whole. In support of this assertion he quotes Gross Capital Stock/Employment for the economy as a whole in 1976 as  $\pounds 10,651$ . He contrasts this with his estimate of £11,263 in respect of the Gross Capital Stock/Employment for spending within the state by foreign tourists plus carrier receipts. Norton derives this latter figure from his own estimated raw data as follows: — tourism spending in Ireland: Gross Capital Stock £242.18m: Employment (man-years) 23,171 — giving an estimated capital stock per manyear of  $\pounds 10,450$  (which is below the average for the economy as a whole). Thus on Norton's own figures tourism spending within the state is more labour intensive than average. Norton's corresponding estimates for capital intensity in respect of carriers' revenue from export tourism are: - Gross Capital Stock £48.56m: Employment 2,643 man-years and an estimated capital stock per man-year of  $\pounds 18,370$ . He then combines these estimates in order to estimate the capital intensity of export tourism spending as  $\pounds 11,263$  – the estimated capital intensity in respect of carriers' receipts from export tourism providing an upward bias to the overall figure. However, I would question the basis of these calculations as follows.

When estimating the gross capital stock requirement in respect of tourism expenditure in Ireland, Norton employs a heavy weighting in respect of "electricity and towngas". Electricity is the most capital intensive sector of the economy with a capital stock per man-year which is 2.2 times greater than the next most capital intensive sector.<sup>1</sup> In Norton's calculation, the weighting in respect of the electricity capital stock for tourism is 3 per cent. He shows an electricity capital stock requirement of £6.51 million out of a gross capital stock of £242.18 million in the first round of the multiplier process. I consider that he overestimates the electricity Gross Capital Stock requirement of the tourism sector so that this weighting in respect of such a capital intensive industry gives an upward bias to Norton's estimate of a Gross Capital Stock requirement of £242.18m in respect of export tourism. In 1976, which is the year in which Norton has set his analysis, the ESB peak load was 1478MW and this demand was experienced on February 4th. During the period 2nd May '76 to end of Aug. '76, the ESB peak load was 1190MW and even this demand was experienced at 12.30 hours which is not a time of peak demand by the tourist industry. The inordinate importance of the foregoing may be illustrated by considering that if the electricity capital stock requirement were removed, then based on this fact alone, Norton's estimate of the capital intensiveness of tourism spending within the economy would be reduced from £10,452 to  $\pounds 10,170$ . Also, since the tourist season coincides with a relative valley period in the context of the overall annual demand for electricity the ESB has flexibility in their choice of generation fuels; this flexibility would confer a cost advantage to the ESB so that the use of average cost and average import content for electricity generation in respect of tourism activity is questionable.

The extent to which one can meaningfully consider capital stock in respect of export tourism, while ignoring domestic holidaymakers, as Norton does, is questionable also. If one were to include the appropriate figures in respect of domestic tourism Norton's calculation in respect of the capital intensiveness of the tourism sector would be reduced due to these people creating no demand for access transport capital. In 1976, all domestic trips including personal amounted to £64.9m with £57.0m being attributed to domestic tourism.

In Norton's input/output analysis of carrier receipts from export tourism, 78 per cent of the entire capital stock employed pertains to the transport sector. There is a large fixed cost element in access transport and during the year in question access transport was not subject to capacity constraints. In this circumstance it is not meaningful to consider marginal changes in tourist numbers as placing cost incurring pressure on the capital capacity of the stock of access transport. In addition Norton ignores the earnings of £26.5m by Irish carriers in respect of import tourism,<sup>2</sup> these earnings cannot be treated as if attributable to a separate capital stock. How can these earnings be excluded in calculating the capital intensiveness of the tourism/transport sector? A subsidiary point is the extent to which it may be necessary to maintain access transport for reasons other than tourism.

In respect of carriers receipts, 80 per cent of Norton's first round leakage of  $\pounds 10.48m$  is due to transport costs which must be assessed in the light of the

<sup>1</sup>See Henry (1980).

<sup>2</sup>Irish Statistical Bulletin - June 1978 - p. 97.

above comments regarding the effect of marginal changes in tourist numbers on total transport costs. By failing to distinguish between marginal and average factors in this high fixed cost sector Norton projects marginal increases in tourist numbers as requiring not only additional transport capital stock but pro rata increases in fuel costs etc.

It may seem that the various figures in respect of capital intensiveness are merely a ranking, so that questions raised above regarding average versus marginal factors would cancel out in a comparative study, since they are common to all sectors of the economy. This approach would not be acceptable for the following reasons: —

(i) In respect of carrier receipts, Norton applies a weighting of 78 per cent, which is greater than the weighting of 3 per cent which applies to transport in the economy as a whole. Because of the dominance of transport with its large fixed cost element in carrier receipts, the question whether marginal increases in tourist numbers could be catered for without increasing the supply of transport is of crucial importance.

(ii) The nature of the timing of demand of the tourist sector for electricity services, which creates no demand for the highly capital intensive electricitygenerating capital stock, but rather improves the load factor of plant already in existence to cater for peak periods of demand.

(iii) As an indication of the order of magnitude of these factors it may be noted that in Norton's calculation 31 per cent of the import leakage in respect of tourism expenditure pertains to transport and electricity.

In addition to bearing on estimates of the capital intensiveness of the sector, the above factors influence also estimates of the magnitude of the multiplier.

We specifically stated that the employment attributable to the sector had been derived using the methodology adopted by the working group of the National Tourist Office of the EEC in their report on *The Economic Significance of Tourism within the European Community* (British Tourist Authority, 1975)<sup>3</sup>. Utilising this methodology the initial injection of tourism spending is increased by the appropriate multiplier and the resultant figure is expressed as a percentage of GNP. This percentage figure is then considered to be the proportion of total employment which is attributable to tourism activity. The magnitude of the multiplier employed has (obviously) a crucial bearing on the level of employment which is estimated using this methodology. Also, the method assumes a constant relationship between output and employment and consequently imparts a downward bias in respect of labour intensive industries.

To sum up, in referring to his estimates Norton continually refers to them as upper bound estimates, however, it should be noted that he derived and applied these estimates on the assumptions that (i) tax revenue is not recycled, and (ii) marginal factors are the same as average even in capital intensive industries (viz: transport and electricity) which are given a heavy weighting in respect of tourism activity and (iii) Norton treats export tourism as being independent of and separate from domestic tourism. He then ignores this latter activity.

<sup>3</sup>Byrne and Palmer (1981) p. 88.

#### References

BYRNE, JOHN P. and PALMER, NOEL T. (1981) "Some Economic Aspects of Irish Tourism", Journal of Irish Business and Administrative Research, Vol. 3, No. 1, April.

CENTRAL STATISTICS OFFICE (1978), Input-Output Tables for 1969 Prl. 5383, Dublin. Stationery Office.

CENTRAL STATISTICS OFFICE (Various Years), National Income and Expenditure, Dublin. Stationery Office.

DEANE, BRIAN M. (1980). For the National Economic and Social Council Publication No. 52. Tourism Policy. Prl. 8701, Dublin. Stationery Office.

Economic Significance of Tourism within the European Community. British Tourist Authority (1975). Electricity Supply Board Annual Reports 1975.'76, 1976-'77.

HENRY, E. W. (1980). Irish Input-Output Structures 1976, Paper No. 99, Dublin. The Economic and Social Research Institute, February.

NORTON, D. A. G. (1982). "Export Tourism Input-Output Multipliers for Ireland". Quarterly Economic Commentary, May. Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute.

#### EXPORT TOURISM: REJOINDER TO PALMER

#### Desmond A. G. Norton\*

There appear to be three central points in Noel Palmer's comments. These pertain to:

- I: The treatment of the government sector should it be regarded as exogenous (as in Norton, 1982) or endogenous?
- II: An assumtion of the input-output model used by me, namely, its failure to distinguish between average and marginal values of parameters.
- III: The relative capital intensity of export tourism.

#### Point One

(i) Contrary to what might be inferred from Palmer, Byrne and Palmer (1981) — henceforth referred to as BP — did *not* distinguish between a range of multipliers based on any stated assumptions in regard to the exogeneity or endogeneity of government expenditure on goods and services. Their multipliers — on page 90 of their study — are all drawn from page 67 of Deane's (1980) report on tourism policy and suffer from the same deficiencies as those in Deane, mentioned on pages 34 and 35 of my study.

(ii) Palmer provides no basis for his assertion that "if tax revenue is treated as being recycled" (i.e., if government were endogenous) "Norton's calculations would provide a multiplier of 2.0 in respect of tourism expenditure within the state". Any calculated multiplier for a model with government expenditure on goods and services taken as endogneous would depend on the assumptions made (but unstated by Palmer) in regard to the *structure* of marginal changes in such expenditure.

(iii) In my own study (pages 35 and 36), in order to make sense of BP's comparison of export tourism multipliers with fiscal multipliers, I inferred that BP's within-the-state export tourism multiplier of 1.8 pertained to a model in which government expenditure on goods and services are exogenous. Palmer now tells us that it pertained to a mdoel in which government expenditure was endogenous. It follows that there is no government expenditure multiplier in BP's model; the effects of increased government expenditure are embodied in the export tourism multiplier. From this, it further follows that BP's comparison of high export tourism multipliers with relatively low government expenditure multipliers is misleading. If Palmer wishes to compare export tourism multipliers with fiscal multipliers he must make government expenditure on goods and services exogenous.

#### Point Two

One of the main objectives of the study under criticism by Palmer was to obtain safe *upper bound* estimates of export tourism multipliers. Palmer

\*The author is Lecturer in Economics at University College, Dublin.

correctly criticises the input-output model used by me because it fails to distinguish between average and marginal values of parameters. In fact, I raised the same point on page 37 of my study. However, I also added that this shortcoming of the input-output model used could generate *overestimates* of national income multipliers pertaining to various kinds of exogenous demand: it would seem plausible to argue that in Ireland the marginal propensities to save and to import both exceed the average propensities. However, an implication from Palmer is that the input-output model used leads to underestimates of export tourism multipliers. For the reasons just indicated (and also because of my assumption of a low marginal propensity to save on page 44 of my study), I am confident that this is not the case, and that my multiplier of 1.03 for total export tourism is indeed a safe upper bound estimate.

#### Point Three

Under the heading of capital/labour ratios, Palmer claims that my procedures lead to overestimation of the relative capital intensity of export tourism. He also questions the accuracy of various data used by me as the basis for my estimates.

(i) My estimated of  $\pounds 10,651$  for the economy-wide capital/employment ratio was derived directly from Table 1 in Henry (1980). My estimate of the capital/employment ratio for total export tourism was  $\pounds 11,263$ ; however, I pointed out on page 49 of my study that this was an understatement because of identifiable rounding errors.

The figure of £11,263 reflects an estimated capital/employment ratio of £10,450 for export tourism spending in Ireland and an estimated capital/employment ratio of £18,370 for export tourism carrier receipts. Consider the estimate of  $\pounds 10,450$  for within-the-state export tourism. Rounding errors occurred in measuring the gross capital stocks induced by within-the-state export tourism in the various sectors: the estimated figures for the gross outputs of each sector (referred to in the top line of page 43 of my study), in units of  $\pounds$  million, were multiplied by the capital coefficients in Henry's Table  $2^1$ . The resulting products were set to two decimal places only, thereby losing the third and fourth decimals of units measured in £ million. It appears that in consequence, the sum of the capital stocks across all sectors, entailed by within-the-state export tourism, was understated. A further rounding error to the same effect was made in dividing the summed capital stock figure (fairly small in absolute terms, but in units of £ million) by the total employment figure (large in absolute terms and in standard units). In fact, as Palmer must be aware, Henry (page 24), on the basis of calculations more precise than mine, estimated that the capital/employment ratio for within-the-state export tourism was "about £11,000". The extent to which the rounding errors led to understatments in my calculation of capital intensity can be seen by comparing my figure of £10,450 with Henry's £11,000.

I admit that I was sloppy in tolerating significant rounding errors. But correcting for them only increases the estimated capital intensity of export tourism. Thus, instead of my procedure biasing upwards the overall capital

<sup>1</sup>Note that the entry .1546 in this table is a misprint; it should read 2.1546, the figure used by me.

intensity of export tourism, as asserted by Palmer, it does the contrary, yielding an understatement.

(ii) Palmer asserts that in my calculations of capital intensity the weighting in respect of the electricity capital stock for tourism was 3 per cent, and that this figure is too high, thereby generating "an upward bias" implied by my figure of  $\pounds 242.18$  million for the capital stock requirement of the within-thestate export tourism sector. Actually, the weighting for electricity *plus towngas* in my calculations was just less than 2.7 per cent of the capital stock requirement of the within-the-state export tourism sector. Thus, the weighting of electricity alone would have been lower than the latter figure.

(iii) Palmer's statement that "if one were to include the appropriate figures in respect of domestic tourism Norton's calculation in respect of the capital intensiveness of the tourism sector would be reduced" is entirely unsubstantiated. Whether or not domestic tourism has a lower capital intensity than within-the-state export tourism depends on the spending patterns of the two categories of tourist. In any case, domestic tourism was beyond my terms of reference.

(iv) Towards the end of his comments Palmer notes that in my study "in respect of carrier receipts, transport has a weighting of 78 per cent, which is greater than the weighting of 3 per cent which applies to transport in the economy as a whole". The implication seems to be that those weightings are inconsistent. However, that is not the case.

The figures of 78 per cent was derived as follows: as is clear from page 47 of my study, the gross capital stock entailed by export tourism carrier receipts was £48.56 million. This reflects the direct and indirect effects of the £35.47 million of final demand for carrier services. Of the £48.56 million in capital, the work-sheets which I made available to Palmer indicated that £37.94 million pertained to the transport sector itself; the difference between the latter two figures reflects the *indirect* capital stock requirements in sectors other than transport, prior to the calculation of induced Keynesian multiplier effects. There is nothing surprising about the figure of 37.94/48.56 = .78 cited by Palmer. Each of the above figures pertains to the first round effects of export tourism expenditure on carriers.

From Henry's Table 1, we find that the total gross outputs from all sectors of the economy summed to  $\pounds 9,236$  million in 1976, while the gross output of the transport sector came to  $\pounds 271.17$  million. Thus, the weighting of transport in the gross output of the economy as a whole was 271.17/9,236 = .029, or approximately .03. The figures .78 and .03 are in no way inconsistent, as seems to be implied by Palmer.

#### Other Issues

(i) BP accept Deane's preferred multiplier estimates to evaluate the economic importance of *total* export tourism — not of marginal changes in export tourism as might be inferred from Palmer's comments. (Compare paragraphs 2.32, 2.33 and 2.38 of Deane with page 88 of BP.)

(ii) At the beginning of his comments, Palmer states that the BP multipliers were based on assumptions in regard to the effects of marginal changes in tourist numbers. That is wholly meaningless, for the whole purpose of calculating multipliers is to assess the effects of changes in tourist numbers. (iii) I cannot determine where in their study BP distinguished, as claimed by Palmer, between "differences in multipliers pertaining to tourism spending by out-of-state and within-the-state tourists". Furthermore, to the extent that tourism expenditure in Ireland by Irish residents is an *endogenous* consumption variable (being a function of income) rather than an exogenous variable, its multiplier is not definable.

(iv) Just before turning to the question of capital intensity, Palmer suggests that the multiplier effect of tourism (social benefits) as compared to the net Exchequer cost of promoting tourism (social costs) might form the basis of a cost-benefit analysis of tourism. By social cost in public project appraisal economists mean social opportunity cost. Thus, if benefit/cost ratios were sensibly to form the criteria for promotion of tourism, benefit/cost ratios would also have to be estimated for *all* potentially relevant public sector projects other than tourism.

(v) Palmer criticises me for ignoring the earnings of Irish carriers in respect of import tourism. I paid no explicit attention to such earnings simply because they were beyond my terms of reference.

(vi) Palmer's claim, towards the end of his comments, that tourism has "no" (sic) input of scarce capital in electricity generation is irrelevant to the question of comparing the capital intensity of toursism to that of other sectors: If, due to excess capacity, and taking into account both direct and indirect effects, tourism had no input of scarce capital in electricity generation, then neither would any other sector have had such an input.

#### References

BYRNE, JOHN P. and PALMER, NOEL T., 1981, "Some Economic Aspects of Irish Tourism", Irish Journal of Business and Administrative Research, April.

DEANE, BRIAN M., 1980, For the National Economic and Social Council, Publication No. 52, *Tourism Policy*, Prl. 8701, Stationery Office, Dublin.

HENRY, E.W., 1980, Irish Input-Output Structures, 1976, Paper No. 99, Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute, February.

NORTON, DESMOND, A.G., 1982, "Export Tourism Input-Output Multipliers for Ireland", Quarterly Economic Commentary, Dublin: The Economic and Social Research Institute, May.

PALMER, NOEL T., 1983, "Export Tourism Input-Output Multipliers for Ireland A Reply". Quarterly Economic Commentary, this issue.

# STATISTICAL APPENDIX

١.

÷.

何にい

			Output I	ndicators		Emplo	oyment	Output	per Head
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
		Manufac- turing	Trans- portable Goods	Elec- tricity Output	Cement Sales	Manufac- turing	Trans- portable Goods	Manufac- turing	Trans- portable Goods
		1973 = 100	1973 = 100	G.W.H.	000 Metric Tons	000's	000's	1973 = 100	1973 = 100
1977 1978 1979 1980 1981 1982		115.9 125.6 133.3 131.9 135.7 134.6	115.4 125.1 132.9 131.6 134.1 133.6	9127 9815 10853 10733 10767 10792	1516.5 1751.7 2067.8 1814.9 1812.5 1486.1	202.8 206.8 215.1 213.1 206.0 198.9	213.8 218.0 227.0 225.3 218.1 210.3	118.1 125.6 128.2 127.9 136.2 139.9	117.0 124.4 126.9 126.7 133.3 137.7
		<b>I</b>	Qua	rterly Ave	ages or Te	otals		<u> </u>	
1980 1981 1982 1983	I II IV IV I I II IV I I II IV I V	131.8 141.4 123.5 128.6 128.1 143.3 130.4 136.1 131.1 143.9 127.4 136.1 139.1 148.7	130.3 142.2 124.3 127.4 126.5 141.4 131.1 133.0 128.4 143.3 128.7 133.9 136.7 146.2	3022 2502 2538 2851 2885 2546 2408 2928 2954 2514 2425 2899 2990 2650	424.8 495.0 476.9 418.2 410.2 516.6 488.8 396.9 335.2 436.2 405.9 308.8 298.1 367.1 371.5 tals Season	215.9 214.3 212.1 210.2 206.6 205.4 206.1 205.7 202.4 199.9 198.4 194.7 188.0	227.5 227.4 224.1 221.9 218.4 218.7 217.0 213.9 212.5 209.7 205.1 198.5	126.2 136.5 120.4 126.4 128.2 144.3 130.8 136.8 135.8 133.9 148.8 132.8 144.5 152.9	124.2 135.5 120.1 124.5 125.6 140.6 129.9 132.9 130.2 146.2 133.1 141.5
1980	I II III IV	136.4 132.7 129.1 127.5	136.2 133.5 127.6 127.3	2718 2655 2670 2674	494.1 445.4 434.5 457.8	216.8 214.7 211.9 200.1	229.0 226.7 224.2 221.4	130.1 127.8 126.0 126.1	128.9 127.6 123.4 124.7
1981	I II III IV	132.0 134.2 136.2 135.5	131.6 132.4 134.5 133.3	2606 2708 2729 2737	482.5 461.2 444.5 408.8	207.5 205.8 205.9 204.6	219.8 217.4 218.5 216.5	132.1 135.1 136.7 137.0	129.8 132.0 133.4 133.4
1982	I II III IV	134.5 134.8 133.4 135.3	133.1 134.2 132.4 134.0	2676 2674 2737 2704	398.2 394.9 368.2 340.6	203.3 200.3 198.2 193.7	215.3 211.9 209.5 204.5	136.8 139.1 139.2 144.4	134.0 137.3 137.1 142.1
1983	I II III IV	142.8 139.1	141.9 136.8	2720 2816	316.4 336.6 344.1	188.8	199.9	156.4	153.8

Unemploy-								
ment			Pri					
9	10	11	12	13	14	15		
Live Reg-	Consumer	Agricul-	Import	Export	Terms	Price of		
ister Av.	Price	tural Price	Unit	Unit	of	Stocks +		
Monthly	Index	Index	Value	Value	Trade	Shares		
000's	Nov.	1975 =	1975 =	1975 =	1975 =	1975 =		
	1975 = 100	100	100	100	100	100		
106.4	130.0	158.9	139.3	142.3	102.1	133.1	1977	
99.2	139.9	174.0	146.2	151.6	103.7	201.5	1978	
89.6	158.5	184.2	165.9	165.0	99.5	215.6	1979	
101.5	187.3	179.3	195.6	179.5	91.8	212.0	1980	
127.9	225.0	213.1	232.4	208.4	89.7	219.9	1981	
140.2	204.2		249.4	231.5	52.0	175.5	1902	
		Qua	rterly Avera	ages or Tota	ls		·	
92.0	173.5	<sup>-</sup> 180.4	183.6	174.9	95.3	206.4	1980	I
94.0	186.3	186.3	192.6	181.0	94.0	206.1		11
103.9	191.8	176.2	194.8	183.4	94.1	211.3		III
116.0	197.7	179.0	205.3	185.9	90.6	224.2		1V
125.8	209.9	202.9	221.4	192.0	86.7	218.9	1981	I
124.3	218.1	213.2	231.3	204.8	88.5	235.3		II
126.8	230.4	213.9	236.8	211.5	89.3	223.1		
134.5	243.8	220.0	236.6	216.2	91.4	202.7		10
146.8	249.5	237.0	243.5	222.2	91.8	192.3	1982	I
149.0	263.9	235.3	248.4	231.1	93.0	174.6		II
159.0	269.5	230.3	254.0	235.0	92.5	175.5		III
171.6	273.8	229.7	255.6	238.3	93.2	178.3		10
188.3	280.6	242.0	247.0	237.3	96.1	172.0	1983	I
188.1	288.3	246.0	254.5	247.7	97.3	206.1	1983	II
193.0	296.5					249.7		
L	I	0						
r		Quarterly Av	erages or 10	otais Seasona		a	r	
87.5	174.0	177.4	No	No	No	No	1980	I
95.1	185.6	179.0	Seasonal	Seasonal	Seasonal	Seasonal	1	II
106.8	191.3	179.2	Pattern	Pattern	Pattern	Pattern		III
116.6	198.2	186.9						10
121.7	210.8	198.7					1981	I
125.5	217.2	205.3						11
129.5	229.7	218.0						
134.7	244.4	229.4						1V
142.2	250.6	231.7					1982	I
150.9	262.9	226.8						11
161.5	268.6	234.9						
171.8	274.4	239.6					ļ	1 V
183.7	282.0	236.5					1983	I
190.0	287.3	237.3						
192.0	295.5							IV

		Money I Weekly	Earnings Averages	Real E	arnings		Consu Indie	mption cators
		16	17	18	19	20	21	22
		Manufac- turing	Trans- portable Goods	Manufac- turing	Trans- portable Goods	New Cars Regis- tered	Retail Sales Value	Retail Sales Volume
		1973 = 100	1973 = 100	1977 = 100	1977 = 100	Total	1975 = 100	1975 = 100
1977 1978 1979 1980 1981 1982		206.3 236.2 271.3 321.2 373.8 417.9	206.1 235.7 271.1 321.0 372.6 418.4	100.0 106.4 107.9 108.1 104.4 99.6	100.0 106.3 107.9 108.1 104.2 99.8	82310 105582 95938 91032 104645 72603	143.0 170.4 197.9 226.5 268.8 293.4	106.9 116.4 120.3 119.3 118.8 112.1
			Quar	terly Average	s or Totals	· · · · ·		
1980	I II III IV	302.3 318.3 318.8 345.2	301.5 318.6 318.2 345.6	109.8 107.7 104.7 110.0	109.5 107.7 104.5 110.3	34241 23589 20517 12592	203.3 224.0 223.9 254.7	115.4 119.1 115.6 127.3
1981	I II III IV	346.2 373.3 383.8 391.7	344.6 371.4 385.2 389.2	103.9 107.9 104.9 101.2	103.6 107.4 105.5 100.7	35696 29306 32351 7292	238.8 264.1 278.8 293.5	113.3 119.8 120.7 121.2
1982	I II III IV	393.3 417.6 424.0 436.7	390.6 423.0 423.6 436.3	99.3 99.7 99.1 100.5	98.7 101.1 99.1 100.5	28114 21223 14012 9981	269.5 291.3 289.2 323.6	108.4 112.1 108.6 119.2
1983	I II III IV					29262 11822	295.6	105.5
		Qua	rterly Avera	ges or Totals	Seasonally	Corrected		
1980	I II III IV	307.1 315.5 319.3 342.3	307.5 314.8 317.4 343.8	111.0 107.1 104.9 109.3	111.1 106.6 104.5 109.9	25027 21166 21570 25128	218.0 221.9 225.2 242.2	122.2 118.6 116.0 120.5
1981	I II III IV	351.7 370.1 384.4 388.4	351.6 367.0 384.2 387.2	104.8 107.4 105.1 100.7	105.0 106.4 105.4 100.5	24790 26598 34184 15255	253.9 261.8 278.0 279.1	120.1 119.3 120.1 114.7
1982	I II III IV	399.7 413.5 425.3 432.6	398.7 417.3 423.4 433.3	100.1 99.3 99.3 100.0	99.9 100.2 99.0 100.3	19242 19314 15074 18407	286.4 288.1 291.9 308.0	114.8 111.4 109.5 112.8
1983	I II III IV				•	19746 11107	312.4	111.1

	Goven	nment		Monetary D	evelopments			
23	24	25	26	27	28	29		
Current Revenue	Current Expendi- ture	Current Deficit	Money Supply M3	Licensed Domestic Government	Banks Credit Non-Gov.	External Reserves		
£m	£m	£m	£m End Period	£m End Period	£m End Period	£m End Period		
1757 2023 2384 3155 3973 4908	1966 2421 2905 3708 4796 5896	209 398 521 553 823 988	3257.3 4117.2 4986.3 5828.6 6972.7 7876.0	836.0 902.6 1005.9 1132.6 1277.4 1564.7	2639.5 3475.2 4350.5 5050.7 6053.6 6677.4	1200.7 1251.9 974.7 1346.0 1473.1 1594.0	1977 1978 1979 1980 1981 1982	
Q	uarterly Tota	als		Monthl	y Totals			
751 783 726 895	777 1013 870 1047	26 230 144 152	5003.1 5103.7 5447.8 5828.6	875.8 952.5 1123.1 1132.6	4607.8 4585.8 4773.0 5050.7	960.7 979.7 1164.4 1346.0	1980	I II III IV
871 936 970 1196	1076 1188 1245 1287	205 252 275 91	6147.6 6369.8 6679.8 6972.7	1124.1 1201.5 1217.8 1277.4	5381.7 5511.6 5785.0 6053.6	1322.7 1191.7 1071.8 1473.1	1981	I II III IV
1044 1176 1184 1505	1437 1474 1457 1534	393 298 267 29	7098.2 7141.8 7498.7 7876.0	1334.1 1369.9 1510.7 1564.7	6366.8 6347.9 6458.1 6677.4	1406.0 1464.6 1521.0 1594.0	1982	I II III IV
1220 1405 1440	1646 1654 1560	426 249 120	8006.4 8106.3	$1510.3 \\ 1638.4$	7058.5 7055.1	1235.1 1343.2 1914.4	1983	I II III IV
Quar	terly Totals	(S.C.)		Monthly T	otals (S.C.)			
709 816 782 881	742 1020 916 1054	39 204 144 173	5034.6 5198.1 5504.6 5799.9	No Seasonal Pattern	4494.9 4548.0 4730.6 5031.4	834.8 1050.3 1169.4 1235.2	1980	I II III IV
791 984 1032 1186	996 1214 1313 1296	204 230 281 110	6084.1 6406.5 6691.2 6820.9	-	5248.9 5478.8 5144.3 6022.8	1291.8 1268.9 1076.7 1352.6	1981	I II III IV
965 1215 1281 1402	1340 1492 1509 1530	383 277 229 128	7032.3 7183.4 7518.9 7702.5		6207.1 6318.7 6420.7 6637.3	1375.1 1554.7 1528.6 1463.7	1982	I II III IV
1198 1424 1571	1599 1631 1611	401 207 40	7935.8 8155.1		6880.7 7024.2	1208.5 1424.4	1983	I II III IV

			Visibl	e Trade Ind	licators		Exchan	ge Rates
ł		30	81	32	33	84	35	36
	1	Imports	Exports	Import	Imports	Exports	Effective	Sterling
		(Value)	(Value)	(Value)	(Volume)	(Volume)		
	-	£m	£m	£m	1975 = 100	1975 = 100	Dec. 1971	Per IR£
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	,			100.0		- 100	1 0000
1977		3090.9	2518.2	572.7	129.9	122.2	77.01	1.0000
1978		3713.1	2963.2	749.9	148.8	134.8	77.57	1.0000
1979		4817.5	3501.1	1316.4	170.3	146.5	77.08	0.9646
1980		5419.6	4130.9	1288.7	162.6	158.9	74.01	0.8862
1981		6578.4	4777.6	1800.8	166.0	158.3	67.75	0.8002
1982		6812.3	5687.9	1124.4	160.3	169:8	67.35	0.8125
				Monthly Av	erages			
1980	I .	476.6	319.6	157.0	182.8	150.5	75.85	0.9276
	11 .	440.0	<b>334.4</b>	105.6	160.9	158.2	74.71	0.9026
	111 -	433.2	356.6	76.6	156.6	161.3	74.65	0.8905
	IV	458.1	363.1	95.0	157.2	162.0	70.75	0.8231
1981	I	511.7	339.6	172.1	162.7	144.1	67.24	0.7686
	II	557.2	405.5	151.7	169.6	162.0	66.57	0.7730
1	111	572.6	419.4	153.2	170.4	161.8	67.85	0.8177
· ·	IV	549.4	450.7	98.7	· · 163.4	170.3	69.32	0.8407
1982	I	597.7	411.2	126.4	172.8	153.3	67.71	0.8126
	11	589.5	503.7	85.8	167.1	180.7	67.72	0.8171
	111	532.5	475.0	57.5	147.6	173.2	66.88	0.8022
	IV	550.8	506.5	44.8	151.7	176.3	67.10	0.8185
1983	I	585.8	471.5	114.8	167.1	164.8	69.46	0.8943
	II	592.1	575.8	16.4	163.8	192.6	65.14	0.8171
	III IV	602.4	606.8	4.4			63.28	0.7894
		Ĩ	fonthly Ave	rages. Seas	onally Correc	ted.	1	
1980	<u> </u>	466.5	346.0	120.5	178.7	165.2	No	No
1	11	423.8	334.8	89.0	154.8	155.6	Seasonal	Seasonal
	ш	458.3	349.0	104.3	165.2	158.0	Pattern	Pattern
	ÎV .	464.4	849.2	115.2	158.8	152.2		
1981	I	504.1	361.0	143.1	158.7	154.8		1
l	II	537.6	406.9	130.7	164.0	160.4		
1	111	597.7	414.2	183.5	179.1	160.5		
	IV	555.4	434.0	121.4	164.0	162.6		
1982	I	586.8	436.4	143.9	169.7	163.4		
	11	578.3	500.5	72.8	163.7	181.3		
	111	547.4	468.8	78.6	152.0	165.4		
	IV .	567.1	488.2	79.9	154.5	167.9	<u>`</u>	
1983	I	570.6	507.7	62.9	163.6	176.2		
	II	577.8	565.9	11.4	160.9	191.1	l'	
1	111	620.6	601.3	19.3		•		
1	IV		1.1					
<u>}</u>		-					-	

. '

#### THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE

#### **Books:**

Economic Growth in Ireland: The Experience Since 1947 Irish Economic Policy: A Review of Major Issues

Staff Members of ESRI (eds. B. R. Dowling and J. Durkan) The Irish Economy and Society in the 1980s (Papers presented at ESRI Twenty-first Anniversary Conference) The Economic and Social State of the Nation J. F. Meenan, M. P. Fogarty, J. Kavanagh and L. Ryan

The Irish Economy: Policy and Performance 1972-1981 P. Bacon, J. Durkan and J. O'Leary

#### **Policy Research Series:**

1. Regional Policy and the Full-Employment Target M. Ross and B. Walsh 2. Energy Demand in Ireland, Projections and Policy Issues S. Scott 3. Some Issues in the Methodology of Attitude Research E. E. Davis et al. 4. Land Drainage Policy in Ireland Richard Bruton and Frank J. Convery **Broadsheet Series:** 1. Dental Services in Ireland P.R. Kaim-Caudle 2. We Can Stop Rising Prices M. P. Fogarty 3. Pharmaceutical Services in Ireland P. R. Kaim-Caudle assisted by Annette O'Toole and Kathleen O'Donoghue P. R. Kaim-Caudle 4. Ophthalmic Services in Ireland assisted by Kathleen O'Donoghue and Annette O'Toole 5. Irish Pensions Schemes, 1969 P. R. Kaim-Caudle and J. G. Byrne assisted by Annette O'Toole 6. The Social Science Percentage Nuisance R. C. Geary Brendan M. Walsh 7. Poverty in Ireland: Research Priorities 8. Irish Entrepreneurs Speak for Themselves M. P. Fogarty 9. Marital Desertion in Dublin: an exploratory study Kathleen O'Higgins 10. Equalization of Opportunity in Ireland: Statistical Aspects R. C. Geary and F. S. Ó Muircheartaigh 11. Public Social Expenditure in Ireland **Finola Kennedy** 12. Problems in Economic Planning and Policy Formation in Ireland, 1958-1974 Desmond Norton R. O'Connor and P. Keogh 13. Crisis in the Cattle Industry 14. A Study of Schemes for the Relief of Unemployment in Ireland R. C. Geary and M. Dempsey with Appendix E. Costa 15. Dublin Simon Community, 1971-1976: an Exploration Ian Hart 16. Aspects of the Swedish Economy and their relevance to Ireland Robert O'Connor, Eoin O'Malley and Anthony Foley 17. The Irish Housing System: A Critical Overview T. J. Baker and L. M. O'Brien 18. The Irish Itinerants: Some Demographic, Economic and Educational Aspects M. Dempsey and R. C. Geary 19. A study of Industrial Workers' Co-operatives Robert O'Connor and Philip Kelly 20. Drinking in Ireland: A Review of Trends in Alcohol Consumption, Alcohol Related Problems and Policies towards Alcohol Brendan M. Walsh 21. A Review of the Common Agricultural Policy and the Implications of Modified Systems for Ireland R. O'Connor, C. Guiomard and J. Devereux Geary Lecture Series: 1. A Simple Approach to Macro-economic Dynamics (1967) R. G. D. Allen 2. Computers, Statistics and Planning-Systems or Chaos? (1968) F. G. Foster 3. The Dual Career Family (1970) Rhona and Robert Rapoport 4. The Psychosonomics of Rising Prices (1971) H. A. Turner

- 5. An Interdisciplinary Approach to the Measurement of Utility or Welfare (1972)
- 6. Econometric Forecasting from Lagged Relationships (1973)
- 7. Toward a New Objectivity (1974)

49

J. Tinbergen

M. G. Kendall

Alvin W. Gouldner

8. Structural Analysis in Sociology (1975) Robert K. Merton 9. British Economic Growth 1951-1973: Success or Failure? (1976) R. C. O. Matthews 10. Official Statisticians and Econometricians in the Present Day World (1977) E. Malinvaud 11. Political and Institutional Economics (1978) Gunnar Myrdal 12. The Dilemmas of a Socialist Economy: The Hungarian Experience (1979) János Kornai Robert M. Solow 13. The Story of a Social Experiment and Some Reflections (1980) 14. Modernisation and Religion (1981) P. L. Berger 15. Poor, Relatively Speaking (1983) Amartya K. Sen **General Research Series:** 1. The Ownership of Personal Property in Ireland Edward Nevin 2. Short-Term Economic Forecasting and its Application in Ireland Alfred Kuehn 8. The Irish Tariff and The E.E.C.: A Factual Survey Edward Nevin 4. Demand Relationships for Ireland C. E. V. Leser 5. Local Government Finance in Ireland: A Preliminary Survey David Walker 6. Prospects of the Irish Economy in 1962 Alfred Kuehn 7. The Irish Woollen and Worsted Industry, 1946-59: A Study in Statistical Method R. C. Geary 8. The Allocation of Public Funds for Social Development David Walker 9. The Irish Price Level: A Comparative Study Edward Nevin D. J. Reynolds 10. Inland Transport in Ireland: A Factual Study 11. Public Debt and Economic Development Edward Nevin 12. Wages in Ireland, 1946-62 Edward Nevin 13. Road Transport: The Problems and Prospects in Ireland D. I. Revnolds 14. Imports and Economic Growth in Ireland, 1947-61 C. E. V. Leser 15. The Irish Economy in 1962 and 1963 C. E. V. Leser 16. Irish County Incomes in 1960 E. A. Attwood and R. C. Geary 17. The Capital Stock of Irish Industry Edward Nevin David Walker 18. Local Government Finance and County Incomes 19. Industrial Relations in Ireland: The Background David O'Mahony P. R. Kaim-Caudle 20. Social Security in Ireland and Western Europe C. E. V. Leser 21. The Irish Economy in 1963 and 1964 22. The Cost Structure of Irish Industry 1950-60 Edward Nevin C. E. V. Leser 23. A Further Analysis of Irish Household Budget Data, 1951-52 David O'Mahony 24. Economic Aspects of Industrial Relations 25. Psychological Barriers to Economic Achievement P. Pentony C. E. V. Leser 26. Seasonality in Irish Economic Statistics 27. The Irish Economy in 1964 and 1965 C. E. V. Leser P. R. Kaim-Caudle 28. Housing in Ireland: Some Economic Aspects 29. A Statistical Study of Wages, Prices and Employment in the Irish Manufacturing Sector C. St. J. O'Herlihy J. L. Booth 30. Fuel and Power in Ireland: Part I. Energy Consumption in 1970. 31. Determinants of Wage Inflation in Ireland Keith Cowling T. J. Baker 32. Regional Employment Patterns in the Republic of Ireland The Staff of The Economic Research Institute 33. The Irish Economy in 1966 J. L. Booth 34. Fuel and Power in Ireland: Part II. Electricity and Turf of Energy 35. Fuel and Power in Ireland: Part III. International and Temporal Aspects J. L. Booth Consumption 36. Institutional Aspects of Commercial and Central Banking in Ireland John Hein 37. Fuel and Power in Ireland: Part IV. Sources and Uses of Energy J. L. Booth C. E. V. Leser 38. A Study of Imports The Staff of The Economic and Social Research Institute 39. The Irish Economy in 1967 R. C. Geary and J. L. Pratschke 40. Some Aspects of Price Inflation in Ireland David Simpson 41. A Medium Term Planning Model for Ireland 42. Some Irish Population Problems Reconsidered Brendan M. Walsh 43. The Irish Brain Drain Richard Lynn 44. A Method of Estimating the Stock of Capital in Northern Ireland Manufacturing Industry: C. W. Jefferson Limitations and Applications 45. An Input-Output Analysis of the Agricultural Sector of the Irish Economy in 1964 R. O'Connor with M. Breslin R. O'Connor 46. The Implications for Cattle Producers of Seasonal Price Fluctuations John Blackwell 47. Transport in the Developing Economy of Ireland Bertram Hutchinson 48. Social Status and Inter-Generational Social Mobility in Dublin Miceal Ross 49. Personal Incomes by County, 1965 John L. Pratschke 50. Income-Expenditure Relations in Ireland, 1965-1966 W. Black, J. V. Simpson, D. G. Slattery 51. Costs and Prices in Transportable Goods Industries

50

53.	Certain Aspects of Non-Agricultural Unemployment in Ireland A Study of Demand Elasticities for Irish Imports	R. C. Geary and J. G. Hughes Dermot McAleese
54.	Internal Migration in Ireland	R. C. Geary and J. G. Hughes
	with Appendix Balinian and Demographic Bahazing in Indoned	C. J. Gillman
55.	with A phendix	B. M. Walsh R C Geary and I G Hughes
56.	Views on Pay Increases, Fringe Benefits and Low Pay H. Be	hrend, A. Knowles and J. Davies
57.	Views on Income Differentials and the Economic Situation	
50	H. Beh	rend, A. Knowles and J. Davies
58. 59	Computers in Ireana National Differences in Anniety	F. G. Foster Richard Lynn
60.	Capital Statistics for Irish Manufacturing Industry	C. W. Jefferson
61.	Rural Household Budget-Feasibility Study	Sile Sheehy and R. O'Connor
62.	Effective Tariffs and the Structure of Industrial Protection in Ireland	Dermot McAleese
63.	Methodology of Personal Income Estimation by County	Miceal Ross
64.	Further Data on County Incomes in the Sixties	Miceal Ross
65. cc	The Functional Distribution of Income in Ireland, 1938-70	J. G. Hughes
·67	Social Status in Dublin Marriage, Mobility and First Employment	E. W. Henry Bertram Hutchinson
68.	An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, I: The Visiting A	nglers
		R. O'Connor and B. J. Whelan
69.	Women and Employment in Ireland: Results of a National Survey Brendan M. Wa	lsh assisted by Annette O'Toole
70.	Irish Manufactured Imports from the UK in the Sixties: The Effects	of AIFTA mot McAleese and John Martin
71.	Alphabetical Voting: A Study of the 1973 General Election in the R	epublic of Ireland Robson and Brenden M. Walsh
72.	A Study of the Irish Cattle and Beef Industries	Conson and Diendan M. Waish
78	Regional Employment Patterns in Northern Ireland William	Black and Clifford W Jefferson
74.	Irish Full Employment Structures, 1968 and 1975	E, W, Henry
75.	An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing II: The Irish Angl	ers
	B O'Connor H	
-		3. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin
76.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers	3. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart
76. 77. 78	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Fundation of Irish Salmon Fishing III: The Commen	3. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen
76. 77. 78.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commen B. J. Whelan, J	<ol> <li>J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>C. O'Connor, and A. McCashin</li> </ol>
76. 77. 78. 79.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublim Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commen B. J. Whelan, J Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership W. E. J. McCarth	<ol> <li>J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>O'Connor, and A. McCashin y, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd</li> </ol>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublim Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services	<ol> <li>J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>O'Connor, and A. McCashin</li> <li>y, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary</li> </ol>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublim Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties	<ol> <li>J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>O'Connor, and A. McCashin y, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary</li> <li>erence J. Baker and Miceal Ross</li> </ol>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commen B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Irish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Dataminants of the Relationships (Comment) A Study of the Structure and Dataminants of the Relationships (Comment) A Study of the Structure and Dataminants of the Relationships (Comment) Market Structure and Dataminants of the Relationships (Comment) A Study of the Structure and Dataminants of the Relationships (Comment) Market Study of the Structure and Dataminants of the Relationships (Comment) A Study of the Structure and Dataminants of the Relationships (Comment) Market Study of the Structure and Dataminants of the Relationships (Comment) Market Study of the Structure and Dataminants of the Relationships (Comment) Market Study of the Structure Study of Study of the Structure Study of the Structure Study of the Study of Study of the Study of th	<ol> <li>J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>O'Connor, and A. McCashin y, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary 'erence J. Baker and Miceal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry how not of Spaced</li> </ol>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Irish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com Attitudes in Ireland	<ol> <li>J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>O'Connor, and A. McCashin by, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary erence J. Baker and Miceal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social</li> </ol>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 83.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublim Probationers         The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972         An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer         B. J. Whelan, I         Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership         W. E. J. Whelan, I         Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership         W. E. J. McCarth         An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services         Employment Relationships in Irish Counties         Irish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968         A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com         Attitudes in Ireland         Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance	<ol> <li>J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>O'Connor, and A. McCashin by, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary</li> <li>Ference J. Baker and Miceal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social</li> <li>E. E. Davis</li> </ol>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 83.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublim Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership W. E. J. McCarth An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Irish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Co	<ol> <li>J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>O'Connor, and A. McCashin by, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary</li> <li>Ference J. Baker and Miceal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social E. E. Davis</li> <li>opeland and Brendan M. Walsh</li> </ol>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 84. 85.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, J Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Irish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Co Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns D. Curtin, R. C. Geary	<ol> <li>J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>R. O'Connor, and A. McCashin y, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary 'erence J. Baker and Miceal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social E. E. Davis</li> <li>ppeland and Brendan M. Walsh y, T. A. Grimes and B. Menton</li> </ol>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 84. 85. 86.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership W. E. J. McCarth An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Irish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Co Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns D. Curtin, R. C. Geary The Income Sensitivity of the Personal Income Tax Base in Ireland	<ul> <li>3. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>R. O'Connor, and A. McCashin by, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary 'erence J. Baker and Miceal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social E. E. Davis</li> <li>by peland and Brendan M. Walsh by, T. A. Grimes and B. Menton 1947-1972</li> </ul>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 84. 85. 86. 87.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Irish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Cc Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns D. Curtin, R. C. Geary The Income Sensitivity of the Personal Income Tax Base in Ireland, Traditional Families? From Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rol	<ul> <li>B. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>R. O'Connor, and A. McCashin by, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary</li> <li>Ference J. Baker and Miceal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social E. E. Davis</li> <li>Depeland and Brendan M. Walsh</li> <li>Y. T. A. Grimes and B. Menton 1947-1972 Brendan R. Dowling es</li> </ul>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 84. 85. 84. 85. 86.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership Muse Inflation and Wage Leadership An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Irish Input Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Co Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns D. Curtin, R. C. Geary The Income Sensitivity of the Personal Income Tax Base in Ireland, Traditional Families: From Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rol in Farm Families	<ul> <li>B. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>R. O'Connor, and A. McCashin by, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary</li> <li>Ference J. Baker and Miccal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social E. E. Davis</li> <li>popeland and Brendan M. Walsh</li> <li>r, T. A. Grimes and B. Menton 1947-1972 Brendan R. Dowling es</li> </ul>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 84. 85. 86. 87. 88.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership W. E. J. McCarth An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Trish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Co Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns D. Curtin, R. C. Geary The Income Sensitivity of the Personal Income Tax Base in Ireland, Traditional Families? From Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rol in Farm Families An Economic of Attitudes Towards Persons	<ul> <li>B. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>R. O'Connor, and A. McCashin y, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary 'erence J. Baker and Miceal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social E. E. Davis</li> <li>popeland and Brendan M. Walsh y, T. A. Grimes and B. Menton 1947-1972 Brendan R. Dowling es</li> <li>Hannan and Louise Katsiaouni 'es and Cognitive E. E. Davis and Mary O'Neill</li> </ul>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 84. 85. 86. 87. 88. 88. 89.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership W. E. J. McCarth An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Trish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Co Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns D. Curtin, R. C. Geary The Income Sensitivity of the Personal Income Tax Base in Ireland, Traditional Families: From Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rold in Farm Families An Irish Personality Differntial: A Technique for Measuring Affecta Dimensions of Attitudes Towards Persons Redundancy and Re-Employment in Ireland Brendan J.	<ul> <li>B. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>R. O'Connor, and A. McCashin y, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary 'erence J. Baker and Miceal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social E. E. Davis</li> <li>bypeland and Brendan M. Walsh y, T. A. Grimes and B. Menton 1947-1972 Brendan R. Dowling es</li> <li>Hannan and Louise Katsiaouni ive and Cognitive E. E. Davis and Mary O'Neill Whelan and Brendan M. Walsh</li> </ul>
76. 77. 78. 80. 81. 82. 83. 84. 85. 86. 87. 88. 87. 88. 89. 90. 91.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership Muge Inflation and Wage Leadership An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Irish Input Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Co Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns D. Curtin, R. C. Geary The Income Sensitivity of the Personal Income Tax Base in Ireland, Traditional Families? From Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rol in Farm Families? The Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rol in Farm Families? Brom Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rol in Farm Families The Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rol Marina Model of Fuel Allocation—A Prototype A Linear Programming Model for Irish Agriculture	<ul> <li>B. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>R. O'Connor, and A. McCashin by, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary</li> <li>Ference J. Baker and Miceal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social E. E. Davis</li> <li>Depeland and Brendan M. Walsh v, T. A. Grimes and B. Menton 1947-1972 Brendan R. Dowling es</li> <li>Hannan and Louise Katsiaouni ve and Cognitive E. E. Davis and Mary O'Neill Whelan and Brendan M. Walsh E. W. Henry and S. Scott</li> </ul>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 84. 85. 86. 87. 88. 87. 88. 89. 90.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership Muge Inflation and Wage Leadership An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Trish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Co Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns D. Curtin, R. C. Geary The Income Sensitivity of the Personal Income Tax Base in Ireland, Traditional Families? From Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rol in Farm Families Redundancy and Re-Employment in Ireland A National Model of Fuel Allocation—A Prototype A Linear Programming Model for Irish Agriculture New York, Statistics Internation Incomer Of Connor, International Family Programming Model for Irish Agriculture New York, Statistical Parisonal Incomer Of Connor, International Family Programming Model for Irish Agriculture Robert O'Connor, International Parisonal Externational Parisonal Parisona	<ul> <li>3. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>R. O'Connor, and A. McCashin by, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary</li> <li>Yerence J. Baker and Miccal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social E. E. Davis</li> <li>Speland and Brendan M. Walsh</li> <li>A. T. A. Grimes and B. Menton 1947-1972 Brendan R. Dowling es.</li> <li>Hannan and Louise Katsiaouni ive and Cognitive E. E. Davis and Mary O'Neill Whelan and Brendan M. Walsh E. W. Henry and S. Scott</li> </ul>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 84. 85. 86. 87. 88. 87. 88. 89. 90. 91. 92. 92.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership Muge Inflation and Wage Leadership An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Irish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Co Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns D. Curtin, R. C. Geary The Income Sensitivity of the Personal Income Tax Base in Ireland, Traditional Families? From Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rol in Farm Families Redundancy and Re-Employment in Ireland A National Model of Fuel Allocation—A Prototype A Linear Programming Model for Irish Agriculture The Working and Lining Conditions of Civil Sarvice Tweitter	<ul> <li>3. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>R. O'Connor, and A. McCashin by, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary</li> <li>Yerence J. Baker and Miccal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social E. E. Davis</li> <li>Speland and Brendan M. Walsh by, T. A. Grimes and B. Menton 1947-1972 Brendan R. Dowling es.</li> <li>Hannan and Louise Katsiaouni by and Cognitive E. E. Davis and Mary O'Neill Whelan and Brendan M. Walsh E. W. Henry and S. Scott</li> <li>Miceal Ross and Michael Behan A. Dale Tussing</li> </ul>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 84. 85. 86. 87. 88. 87. 88. 90. 91. 92. 93. 94.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership Muge Inflation and Wage Leadership An Econometric Study of the Irish Postal Services Employment Relationships in Irish Counties Trish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com- Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Co Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns D. Curtin, R. C. Geary The Income Sensitivity of the Personal Income Tax Base in Ireland, Traditional Families? From Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rol in Farm Families Redundancy and Re-Employment in Ireland A National Model of Fuel Allocation—A Prototype A Linear Programming Model for Irish Agriculture Trish Educational Expenditures—Past, Present and Future The Working and Living Conditions of Civil Service Typists Nirish Public Debt	<ul> <li>3. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>R. O'Connor, and A. McCashin by, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary</li> <li>Yerence J. Baker and Miccal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social E. E. Davis</li> <li>Opeland and Brendan M. Walsh by, T. A. Grimes and B. Menton 1947-1972 Brendan R. Dowling es</li> <li>Hannan and Louise Katsiaouni ve and Cognitive E. E. Davis and Mary O'Neill Whelan and Brendan M. Walsh E. W. Henry and S. Scott</li> <li>Miceal Ross and Michael Behan A. Dale Tussing foirín O'Broin and Gillian Farren Bichard Bruton</li> </ul>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 84. 85. 86. 87. 88. 87. 88. 90. 91. 92. 93. 94. 95.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership Muge Inflationships in Irish Counties Trish Input Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com- Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Co Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns D. Curtin, R. C. Geary The Income Sensitivity of the Personal Income Tax Base in Ireland, Traditional Families? From Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rol in Farm Families Redundancy and Re-Employment in Ireland A National Model of Fuel Allocation—A Prototype A Linear Programming Model for Irish Agriculture The Working and Living Conditions of Civil Service Typists Nish Public Debt Output and Employment in the Irish Food Industry to 1990 A	<ul> <li>3. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>R. O'Connor, and A. McCashin by, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary</li> <li>Yerence J. Baker and Miccal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social</li> <li>E. E. Davis</li> <li>Depeland and Brendan M. Walsh</li> <li>Y. T. A. Grimes and B. Menton 1947-1972 Brendan R. Dowling es</li> <li>Hannan and Louise Katsiaouni ve and Cognitive E. E. Davis and Mary O'Neill</li> <li>Whelan and Brendan M. Walsh E. W. Henry and S. Scott</li> <li>Miceal Ross and Michael Behan A. Dale Tussing</li> <li>forfin O'Broin and Gillian Farton Richard Bruton</li> <li>D. O'Rourke and T. P. McStav</li> </ul>
76. 77. 78. 79. 80. 81. 82. 83. 84. 85. 86. 87. 88. 87. 88. 90. 91. 92. 93. 94. 95. 96.	Factors Relating to Reconviction among Young Dublin Probationers The Structure of Unemployment in Ireland, 1954-1972 An Economic Evaluation of Irish Salmon Fishing, III: The Commer B. J. Whelan, I Wage Inflation and Wage Leadership Muge Inflationships in Irish Counties Trish Input-Output Income Multipliers 1964 and 1968 A Study of the Structure and Determinants of the Behavioural Com Attitudes in Ireland Economic Aspects of Local Authority Expenditure and Finance J. R. Co Population Growth and other Statistics of Middle-sized Irish Towns D. Curtin, R. C. Geary The Income Sensitivity of the Personal Income Tax Base in Ireland, Traditional Families? From Culturally Prescribed to Negotiated Rol in Farm Families Redundancy and Re-Employment in Ireland A National Model of Fuel Allocation—A Prototype A Linear Programming Model for Irish Agriculture The Working and Living Conditions of Civil Service Typists Nirish Educational Expenditures—Past, Present and Future The Working and Living Conditions of Civil Service Typists Nirish Public Debt Output and Employment in the Irish Food Industry to 1990 A Displacement and Development: Class, Kinship and Social Change	<ul> <li>B. J. Whelan, and A. McCashin Ian Hart Brendan M. Walsh cial Fishermen</li> <li>R. O'Connor, and A. McCashin by, J. F. O'Brien and V. G. Dowd Peter Neary</li> <li>Verence J. Baker and Miccal Ross J. R. Copeland and E. W. Henry ponent of Social</li> <li>E. E. Davis</li> <li>Depeland and Brendan M. Walsh</li> <li>M. T. A. Grimes and B. Menton 1947-1972 Brendan R. Dowling es</li> <li>Hannan and Louise Katsiaouni ve and Cognitive E. E. Davis and Mary O'Neill</li> <li>Whelan and Brendan M. Walsh E. W. Henry and S. Scott</li> <li>Miceal Ross and Michael Behan A. Dale Tussing óirín O'Broin and Gillian Farren Richard Bruton</li> <li>D. O'Rourke and T. P. McStay in Irish</li> </ul>

97. Attitudes in the Republic of Ireland relevant to the Northern Ireland Problem: Vol. I: Descriptive Analysis and Some Comparisons with Attitudes in Northern Ireland and Great Britain. E. E. Davis and R. Sinnott 98. Internal Migration Flows in Ireland and their Determinants J. G. Hughes and B. M. Walsh 99. Irish Input-Output Structures, 1976 E. W. Henry 100. Development of Irish Sea Fishing Industry and its Regional Implications R. O'Connor, J. A. Crutchfield, B. J. Whelan and K. E. Mellon 101. Employment Conditions and Job Satisfaction: The Distribution, Perception and Evaluation of Job Rewards Christopher T. Whelan 102. Crime in the Republic of Ireland: Statistical Trends and their Interpretation David B. Rottman 103. Measure of the Capital Stock in the Irish Manufacturing Sector, 1945-1973 R. N. Vaughan 104. A Study of National Wage Agreements in Ireland James F. O'Brien 105. Socio-Economic Impact of the Construction of the ESB Power Station at Moneypoint, Co. Clare R. O'Connor, J. A. Crutchfield and B. J. Whelan 106. The Financing of Third-level Education A. C. Barlow 107. An Input-Output Analysis of New Industry in Ireland in 1976 E. W. Henry 108. Social Insurance and Absence from Work in Ireland Gerard Hughes 109. The Distribution of Income in the Republic of Ireland: A Study in Social Class and Family Cycle Inequalities David B. Rottman, Damian F. Hannan, Niamh Hardiman and Miriam M. Wiley 110. The Economic and Social Circumstances of the Elderly in Ireland B. J. Whelan and R. N. Vaughan 111. Worker Priorities, Trust in Management and Prospects for Workers' Participation Christopher T. Whelan

- 112. The Impact of Energy Prices on the Irish Economy during 1973-1981 E. W. Henry 113. Schooling and Sex Roles: Sex Differences in Subject Provision and Student Choice in Irish Post-
- D. Hannan, R. Breen and B. Murray, D. Watson, N. Hardiman, K. O'Higgins Primary Schools 114. Energy Crops, Forestry and Regional Development in Ireland Frank J. Convery and Kathleen Dripchak